CD MEETS CAT

VITALI KAPOVITCH AND CHRISTIAN KETTERER

ABSTRACT. We show that if a noncollapsed CD(K, n) space X with $n \ge 2$ has curvature bounded above by κ in the sense of Alexandrov then $K \le (n-1)\kappa$ and X is an Alexandrov space of curvature bounded below by $K - \kappa(n-2)$. We also show that if a CD(K, n) space Y with finite n has curvature bounded above then it is infinitesimally Hilbertian.

Contents

1 Т. 1	1
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Acknowledgments	4
2. Preliminaries	4
2.1. Curvature-dimension condition for metric measure spaces	4
2.2. Cheeger energy and calculus for metric measure spaces	7
2.3. Tangent modules of metric measure spaces	9
2.4. Bakry-Emery condition	11
2.5. Rectifiability	12
2.6. Hessian operator	12
2.7. Upper and lower sectional curvature bounds for metric spaces	15
2.8. Spaces with two sided sectional Alexandrov curvature bounds	16
3. Lower bounds for the measure-valued Laplace operator	17
4. On the relation between convexity and the Hessian	18
5. RCD+CAT implies Alexandrov	22
6. CD+CAT to RCD+CAT	28
References	33

1. INTRODUCTION

It trivially follows from the definitions of sectional and Ricci curvature that if (M^n, g) is a Riemannian manifold with $n \ge 2$ satisfying $\operatorname{Ric}_M \ge K$, $\operatorname{sec}_M \le \kappa$ then $\kappa(n-1) \ge K$ and M also satisfies $\operatorname{sec}_M \ge K - \kappa(n-2)$. The main purpose of this paper is to show that the same holds true for metric measure spaces with intrinsically defined sectional and Ricci curvature bounds.

Theorem 1.1. Let $n \ge 2$ be a natural number and let (X, d, \mathcal{H}_n) be a complete metric measure space which is $CBA(\kappa)$ (has curvature bounded above by κ in the sense of Alexandrov) and satisfies CD(K, n). Then $\kappa(n-1) \ge K$, and (X, d) is an Alexandrov space of curvature bounded below by $K - \kappa(n-2)$. In particular X is infinitesimally Hilbertian.

Examples given by manifolds of constant sectional curvature show that the lower curvature bound provided by this theorem is optimal.

Theorem 1.1 shows that X has two sided curvature bounds in Alexandrov sense. By work of Alexandrov, Berestovsky and Nikolaev (see [BN93]) this immediately gives the following corollary:

University of Toronto, vtk@math.utoronto.ca.

University of Toronto, ckettere@math.toronto.edu.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject classification. Primary 53C20, 53C21, Keywords: Riemannian curvature-dimension condition, upper curvature bound, Alexandrov space, optimal transport.

Corollary 1.2. Let (X, d, \mathcal{H}_n) be as in Theorem 1.1 then X is a topological n-dimensional manifold with boundary and Int X has a canonical open C^3 atlas of harmonic coordinates and a Riemannian metric g which induces d and such that g is in $C^{1,\alpha} \cap W^{2,p}$ in local harmonic charts for every $1 \leq p < \infty, 0 < \alpha < 1$.

Let us comment on the assumptions in the main theorem.

CD(K, N) spaces for $N \in [1, \infty)$ were introduced by Lott and Villani for K = 0 in [LV09], and independently by Sturm for general $K \in \mathbb{R}$ in [Stu06b]. Other curvature-dimension conditions are the reduced curvature-dimension condition $CD^*(K, N)$ [BS10] and the entropic curvature dimension condition $CD^e(K, N)$ [EKS15] that are simpler from an analytical viewpoint. For a Riemannian manifold each condition characterizes lower Ricci curvature bounds. However it is not known if the conditions CD^* or CD^e are in general equivalent to the original one by Sturm, or to each other. Moreover, in general they do not produce sharp estimates in geometric inequalities. Conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ and $CD^e(K, N)$ are known to be equivalent under the extra assumption that the space is essentially non-branching [EKS15, CM16]. In Proposition 6.9 we prove that a $CBA(\kappa)$ space which satisfies any of the conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ or $CD^e(K, N)$ with $N < \infty$ is non-branching and therefore for $CBA(\kappa)$ spaces all these curvature-dimension conditions are equivalent.

In the original version of this paper the main theorem had an extra assumption that X is infinitesimally Hilbertian which might be considered a natural assumption in this setting, and under which all of the previous curvature-dimension conditions are equivalent as well. However, as we show in Theorem 6.2 a space satisfying any of the curvature dimension conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ or $CD^e(K, N)$, and $CBA(\kappa)$ for $1 \leq N < \infty$, $K, \kappa < \infty$ is automatically infinitesimally Hilbertian and hence RCD(K, N). (Note that this includes the case N = 1).

Next, we exclude n = 1 in the statement of the main theorem because if (X, d, m) is RCD(K, 1) then by [KL16] it is a point or a smooth Riemannian 1-dimensional manifold (possibly with boundary) and thus is an Alexandrov space with curvature bounded below and above without an extra assumption of an a priori upper curvature bound.

Further, some assumptions on the measure m in relation to n in the main theorem are obviously necessary as the following simple example indicates

Example 1.3. Let $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ be given by $f(x) = 4|x|^2$. Let $X = \overline{B}_{\frac{1}{100}}(0)$. A simple computation shows that $\operatorname{Ric}_f^3 \geq 2$ on X where Ric_f^3 is the 3-Bakry-Emery Ricci tensor of $(X, g_{Eucl}, e^{-f}\mathcal{H}_2)$. Since all balls $B_r(0)$ are convex this easily implies that $(X, d_{Eucl}, e^{-f}\mathcal{H}_2)$ is RCD(2,3). On the other hand, (X, d_{Eucl}) is obviously CBA(0). Thus, X is RCD(K, n) and $CBA(\kappa)$ with $n = 3, K = 2, \kappa = 0$ but $K > \kappa(n-1)$.

Note that while the space X constructed in the above example violates the conclusion of Theorem 1.1, it nevertheless is an Alexandrov space of curvature bounded below (it obviously has curv ≥ 0), just with a different lower curvature bound that the one claimed in Theorem 1.1. In section 6 we construct an example of a compact CBA(0), RCD(-100,3) space which is not Alexandrov of curv $\geq \hat{\kappa}$ for any $\hat{\kappa}$ (Example 6.8).

In [DPG17] De Philippis and Gigli (cf. also [Kit17]) considered the class of RCD(K, n) spaces where the background measure is \mathcal{H}_n . Following De Philippis and Gigli we will call such spaces noncollapsed.

It follows from work of Cheeger–Colding [CC97] that a measured Gromov-Hausdorff limit of a sequence of complete *n*-dimensional Riemannian manifolds (M_i, p_i) with convex boundary satisfying $\operatorname{Ric}_{M_i} \geq K$, $\operatorname{vol}(B(p_i, 1)) \geq v > 0$ for some $K \in \mathbb{R}, v > 0$ is a noncollapsed RCD(K, n) space in the above sense. This also follows from [DPG17] where it is shown more generally, that for any v > 0 the class of noncollapsed RCD(K, n) spaces (X, d, m, p) satisfying $m(B_1(p)) \geq 1$ is compact in the pointed measured Gromov-Hausdorff topology. This includes the nontrivial statement that for a sequence $(X_i, d, \mathcal{H}_n, p_i)$ in the above class converging to (X, d, m, p) the limit measure m is automatically \mathcal{H}_n .

Thus, noncollapsed RCD(K, n) spaces are a natural synthetic generalization of noncollapsing Ricci limits.

The above discussion shows that requiring that the background measure be \mathcal{H}_n in the context of Theorem 1.1 is a natural assumption.

Let us outline the structure of the proof of the main theorem. It consists of two independent parts. Part one is to show that a space satisfying CD(K, n) and $CBA(\kappa)$ with finite *n* is infinitesimally Hilbertian and hence RCD(K, n). Part two is to show that a noncollapsed RCD(K, n)space which is also $CBA(\kappa)$ is Alexandrov with $curv \ge K - \kappa(n-2)$.

Since small balls in X are convex, using local-to-global results for RCD and Alexandrov spaces it's enough to prove both parts for small balls in X which are $CAT(\kappa)$ i.e. satisfy the upper curvature triangle comparison globally. Thus, for most of the paper we only consider spaces X which have small diameter and are $CAT(\kappa)$ rather than $CBA(\kappa)$.

The proof that X satisfying CD(K, n) and $CAT(\kappa)$ with finite n must be infinitesimally Hilbertian consists of several steps. The main step is proving the splitting theorem (Proposition 6.5) which says that if a space X which is CD(0, n) and CAT(0) with $n < \infty$ then it must metrically split as $Y \times \mathbb{R}$.

Recall that the usual scheme for proving the splitting theorem under various versions of nonnegative Ricci curvature involves a variation of the following argument [CG72, Gig13].

Let $\gamma \colon \mathbb{R} \to X$ be a line in X. Consider the rays $\gamma_+(t) = \gamma(t)$ and $\gamma_-(t) = \gamma(-t)$ for $t \ge 0$. Let b_{\pm} be the corresponding Busemann functions. From the triangle inequality it holds that $b = b_+ + b_- \ge 0$ on X. Also, $b|_{\gamma} \equiv 0$. Then the usual argument is to first show that b_{\pm} are both superharmonic, hence b is is superharmonic and hence it must be identically zero on X by the maximum principle. However, this argument completely fails in our situation because knowing that b_{\pm} are superharmonic *does not* imply that b is superharmonic too as the Laplace operator is not known to be linear yet - we are trying to prove that it is.

Our proof of the splitting theorem goes along very different lines. It relies on the Flat Strip Theorem for CAT(0) spaces to conclude that $b \equiv 0$ and to get the splitting.

By [GMR15] "tangents of tangents are tangents" a.e., i.e. there is a set $A \subset X$ of full measure such that for *every* point $p \in A$ for any tangent cone (T_pX, d_p, m_p) and any point $y \in T_pX$ any tangent cone $T_y(T_pX)$ is a tangent cone at p. Using the splitting theorem this easily implies that there exists a tangent cone at p isometric to \mathbb{R}^k for some $k \leq n$.

Now infinitesimal Hilbertianness of X easily follows by an application of Cheeger's celebrated generalization of Rademacher's theorem to doubling metric measure spaces which satisfy the Poincaré inequality [Che99].

The second major part in the proof of the main theorem is showing that it holds if X is $RCD(K, n), CAT(\kappa)$ and $m = \mathcal{H}_n$.

The obvious proof which works for Riemannian manifolds does not easily generalize as there is no notion of curvature or Ricci tensors on X. Let us describe an argument that does generalize. Let (M^n, g) be a complete Riemannian manifold with $\sec \leq \kappa$, Ric $\geq K$. Fix any $\hat{\kappa} < K - \kappa(n-2)$. To verify that $\sec_M \geq \hat{\kappa}$ it's enough to show that for any $p \in M$ the distance function to p is more concave than the distance function in the simply connected space form of constant curvature k. For points q near p this is equivalent to checking that

(1) $\operatorname{Hess}(d_p|_q)(V,V) \leq \operatorname{cot}_{\hat{\kappa}}(d_p(q)) \text{ for any unit } V \in T_q M \text{ orthogonal to } \nabla d_p$

where $\cot_k(t)$ is the generalized cotangent function (see section 2.7 for the definition). The condition that $\sec_M \leq \kappa$ implies that

(2)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(d_p)(V,V) \ge \operatorname{cot}_{\kappa}(d_p(q))$$
 for any unit $V \in T_q M$ orthogonal to ∇d_p

On the other hand, since $\operatorname{Ric}_M \geq K$, by Laplace comparison we have that

(3)
$$\Delta d_p(q) = \sum_i \operatorname{Hess}(d_p)(V_i, V_i) \le (n-1) \operatorname{cot}_{K/(n-1)}(d_p(q))$$

where V_1, \ldots, V_{n-1} is an orthonormal basis of $\nabla d_p^{\perp} \subset T_q M$. Combining the above inequalities gives that $\kappa(n-1) \geq K$ and that for any $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$

 $\operatorname{Hess}(d_p)(V_i, V_i) \le (n-1) \operatorname{cot}_{K/(n-1)}(d_p(q)) - (n-2) \operatorname{cot}_{\kappa}(d_p(q)) \le \operatorname{cot}_{\hat{\kappa}}(d_p(q))$

when d(p,q) is sufficiently small. Hence sec $M \ge \hat{\kappa}$. Since $\hat{\kappa} < K - \kappa(n-2)$ was arbitrary this shows that $\sec M \ge K - \kappa(n-2)$.

There are a number of technical challenges in generalizing this argument to the setting of Theorem 1.1. The first one is to get a *lower* laplacian bound on the distance functions using the upper curvature bound. To do this we first show that the set of regular points X_{reg} is open, convex and is a topological *n*-manifold. A crucial point in showing convexity of X_{reg} is proving that the density function is semiconcave on X (Lemma 5.4). This uses the CAT property of X and need not be true for general noncollapsed RCD(K, n) spaces.

By a homological argument the fact that X_{req} is a manifold implies that geodesics on X_{req} are locally extendible. Once this has been established it follows from contraction properties of the inverse gradient flow of d_p that Δd_p is bounded below on X_{reg} . RCD(K,n) condition implies that it's bounded above which implies that distance functions locally lie in the domain of the laplacian. This allows us to apply to the distance functions analytic tools we develop in Section 4 which relate convexity properties of functions in the domain of the laplacian on RCD spaces to bounds on their Hessians. Using the calculus of tangent modules developed by Gigli [Gig14] and a result of Han [Han14] that for a sufficiently regular function f on a noncollapsed RCD(K, n)space $\Delta f = \text{tr Hess } f$, we are able to carry out the Riemannian argument that was outlined earlier to obtain the same concavity properties of distance functions locally on X_{reg} . By a globalization result of Petrunin this implies that X is Alexandrov.

The paper is structured as follows. In Section 2 we provide preliminaries on synthetic Ricci curvature bounds, calculus for metric measure spaces and curvature bounds for metric spaces in the sense of Alexandrov.

In Section 3 we prove a lower Laplace bound for distance functions in the context of metric spaces which are topological manifolds and satisfy RCD and CBA bounds.

In Section 4 we establish a result that gives a characterization of local κ -convexity of Lipschitz functions that are in the domain of the Laplace operator, in terms of almost everywhere lower bounds for the Hessian.

In Section 5 we prove the main theorem under an extra assumption that X is infinitesimally Hilbertian making use of several tools and results for the Laplace operator and the tangent module of metric measure spaces.

Finally, in Section 6 we prove that a space satisfying $CD^*(K, n)$ and $CBA(\kappa)$ for finite n must be infinitesimally Hilbertian (Theorem 6.2). Combined with the results of Section 5 this finishes the proof of the main theorem.

1.1. Acknowledgments. The authors are grateful to Robert Haslhofer for helpful conversations The authors also want to thank Nicola Gigli for comments and remarks that and comments. helped to improve an earlier version of this article. The first author was supported in part by a Discovery grant from NSERC. This work was done while the second author was participating in Fields Thematic Program on "Geometric Analysis" from July til December 2017. Both authors want to thank the Fields Institute for providing an excellent and stimulating research environment.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Curvature-dimension condition for metric measure spaces.

Definition 2.1. Let $[a, b] \subset \mathbb{R}$ be an interval. We say a lower semi-continuous function $u : [a, b] \to (-\infty, \infty]$ is (K, N)-convex for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0, \infty]$ if u is absolutely continuous and

$$u'' \ge K + \frac{1}{N}(u')^2$$

holds in the distributional sense where $\frac{1}{\infty} =: 0$. We say that u is K-convex if u is (K, ∞) -convex, and we say that u is K-concave if -u is -K-convex.

If $N < \infty$, we define $U_N(t) = e^{-\frac{1}{N}t}$. Then, $u : [a, b] \to (-\infty, \infty]$ is (K, N)-convex if and only if $U_N(u) =: v : [a, b] \to [0, \infty)$ satisfies $v'' \leq -K/Nv$ on [a, b] in the distributional sense.

Let (X, d) be a metric space. If $A \subset X$, the induced metric on A is denoted by d_A . We say a rectifiable constant speed curve $\gamma : [a, b] \to X$ is a *minimizing geodesic* or just *geodesic* if $L(\gamma) = d(\gamma(a), \gamma(b))$. We say (X, d) is a *geodesic metric space* if for any pair $x, y \in X$ there exists a geodesic between x and y. For a geodesic γ between points $x, y \in X$ we will also use the notation [x, y] where in this case we think of the geodesic as its image in X. Similarly $]x, y[=[x, y] \setminus \{x, y\}$.

Definition 2.2. Let (X, d) be a metric space, and let $V : X \to (-\infty, \infty]$ be a lower semi-continuous function. We set Dom $V := \{x \in X : V(x) < \infty\}$. Let $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0, \infty]$.

- (i) We say that V is weakly (K, N)-convex if for every pair $x, y \in \text{Dom } V$ there exists a unit speed geodesic $\gamma : [0, d(x, y)] \to X$ between x and y such that $V \circ \gamma : [0, d(x, y)] \to (-\infty, \infty]$ is (K, N)-convex.
- (ii) If (X, d) is a geodesic metric space we say V is (K, N)-convex if $V \circ \gamma$ is (K, N)-convex for any unit speed geodesic $\gamma : [0, L] \to \text{Dom } V$.
- (iii) We say $V: X \to (-\infty, \infty]$ is semi-convex if for any $x \in X$ there exists a neighborhoud U of x and $K \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $V|_U$ is K-convex.

 $\mathcal{P}^2(X)$ denotes the set of Borel probability measures μ on (X, d) such that $\int_X d(x_0, x)^2 d\mu(x) < \infty$ for some $x_0 \in X$. For any pair $\mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}^2(X)$ we denote with $W_2(\mu_0, \mu_1)$ the L^2 -Wasserstein distance that is finite and defined by

(4)
$$W_2(\mu_1,\mu_2)^2 := \inf_{\pi \in \operatorname{Cpl}(\mu_1,\mu_2)} \int_{X^2} d^2(x,y) d\pi(x,y),$$

where $\operatorname{Cpl}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ is the set of all couplings between μ_1 and μ_2 , i.e. of all the probability measures $\pi \in \mathcal{P}(X^2)$ such that $(P_i)_{\sharp}\pi = \mu_i$, $i = 1, 2, P_1, P_2$ being the projection maps. $(\mathcal{P}^2(X), W_2)$ becomes a separable metric space that is a geodesic metric space provided X is a geodesic metric space. A coupling $\pi \in \operatorname{Cpl}(\mu_1, \mu_2)$ is optimal if it is a minimizer for (4). Optimal couplings always exist We call the metric space $(\mathcal{P}^2(X), W_2)$ the L^2 -Wasserstein space of (X, d). The subspace of probability measures with bounded support is denoted with $\mathcal{P}_b^2(X)$.

Definition 2.3. A metric measure space is a triple (X, d, m) =: X where (X, d) is a complete and separable metric space and m is a locally finite measure.

The space of *m*-absolutely continuous probability measures in $\mathcal{P}^2(X)$ is denoted by $\mathcal{P}^2(X,m)$. The *Shanon-Boltzmann entropy* of a metric measure space (X, d, m) is defined as

$$\operatorname{Ent}_m : \mathcal{P}_b^2(X) \to (-\infty, \infty], \quad \operatorname{Ent}_m(\mu) = \int \log \rho d\mu \text{ if } \mu = \rho m \text{ and } (\rho \log \rho)_+ \text{ is } m \text{-integrable},$$

and ∞ otherwise. Note Dom Ent_m $\subset \mathcal{P}^2(X, m)$, and Ent_m : $\mathcal{P}^2_b(X) \to (-\infty, \infty]$ is lower semicontinuous. By Jensen's inequality one has Ent_m $\mu \ge -\log m(\operatorname{supp} \mu)$ if $m(\operatorname{supp} \mu) < \infty$.

Definition 2.4 ([Stu06a, LV09, EKS15]). A metric measure space (X, d, m) satisfies the *curvature*dimension condition $CD(K, \infty)$ for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ if Ent_m is weakly K-convex.

A metric measure space (X, d, m) satisfies the *entropic curvature-dimension condition* $CD^{e}(K, N)$ for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0, \infty)$ if Ent_{m} is weakly (K, N)-convex.

The N-Renyi entropy is defined as

$$S_N(\cdot|m): \mathcal{P}_b^2(X) \to (-\infty, 0], \quad S_N(\mu|m) = -\int \rho^{1-\frac{1}{N}} dm \quad \text{if } \mu = \rho m, \text{ and } 0 \text{ otherwise.}$$

Note that $\mu = \rho m \in \mathcal{P}(X, m)$ implies $\rho \in L^{1-\frac{1}{N}}(m)$, and therefore S_N is well-defined. S_N is lower semi-continuous, and $S_N(\mu) \ge -m(\operatorname{supp} \mu)^{\frac{1}{N}}$ by Jensen's inequality.

Definition 2.5. For $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$ we define $\cos_{\kappa} : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ as the solution of

$$v'' + \kappa v = 0$$
 $v(0) = 1$ & $v'(0) = 0$

 \sin_{κ} is defined as solution of the same ODE with initial value v(0) = 0 & v'(0) = 1. That is

$$\cos_{\kappa}(x) = \begin{cases} \cosh(\sqrt{|\kappa|}x) & \text{if } \kappa < 0\\ 1 & \text{if } \kappa = 0\\ \cos(\sqrt{\kappa}x) & \text{if } \kappa > 0 \end{cases} \quad \sin_{\kappa}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{|\kappa|}x)}{\sqrt{|\kappa|}} & \text{if } \kappa < 0\\ x & \text{if } \kappa = 0\\ \frac{\sin(\sqrt{\kappa}x)}{\sqrt{\kappa}} & \text{if } \kappa > 0 \end{cases}$$

Let π_{κ} be the diameter of a simply connected space form \mathbb{S}^2_{κ} of constant curvature κ , i.e.

$$\pi_{\kappa} = \begin{cases} \infty & \text{if } \kappa \le 0 \\ \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\kappa}} & \text{if } \kappa > 0 \end{cases}$$

For $K \in \mathbb{R}$, $N \in (0, \infty)$ and $\theta \ge 0$ we define the distortion coefficient as

 π

$$t \in [0,1] \mapsto \sigma_{K,N}^{(t)}(\theta) = \begin{cases} \frac{\sin_{K/N}(t\theta)}{\sin_{K/N}(\theta)} & \text{if } \theta \in [0,\pi_{K/N}), \\ \infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Note that $\sigma_{K,N}^{(t)}(0) = t$. Moreover, for $K \in \mathbb{R}$, $N \in [1,\infty)$ and $\theta \ge 0$ the modified distortion coefficient is defined as

$$t \in [0,1] \mapsto \tau_{K,N}^{(t)}(\theta) = \begin{cases} \theta \cdot \infty & \text{if } K > 0 \text{ and } N = 1, \\ t^{\frac{1}{N}} \left[\sigma_{K,N-1}^{(t)}(\theta) \right]^{1-\frac{1}{N}} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Definition 2.6 ([Stu06b, LV09, BS10]). We say (X, d, m) satisfies the *curvature-dimension condition* CD(K, N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$ if for every $\mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}^2_b(X, m)$ there exists an L^2 -Wasserstein geodesic $(\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ and an optimal coupling π between μ_0 and μ_1 such that

$$S_N(\mu_t|m) \le -\int \left[\tau_{K,N}^{(1-t)}(d(x,y))\rho_0(x)^{-\frac{1}{N}} + \tau_{K,N}^{(t)}(d(x,y))\rho_1(y)^{-\frac{1}{N}}\right] d\pi(x,y)$$

where $\mu_i = \rho_i dm, \, i = 0, 1.$

We say (X, d, m) satisfies the reduced curvature-dimension condition $CD^*(K, N)$ for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0, \infty)$ if we replace in the previous definition the modified distortion coefficients $\tau_{K,N}^{(t)}(\theta)$ by the usual distortion coefficients $\sigma_{K,N}^{(t)}(\theta)$.

If K = 0, the condition CD(K, N) coincides with the condition $CD^*(K, N)$ and is simply convexity of the N-Renyi entropy functional.

Remark 2.7. We note that if a metric measure space (X, d, m) satisfies a curvature dimension condition CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ or $CD^e(K, N)$ for $N < \infty$, the support supp m of m with the induced metric $d_{\text{supp }m}$ becomes a geodesic space. This follows since $(\text{supp }m, d_{\text{supp }m})$ is complete and a curvature-dimension condition yields that supp m is a length space, and is locally compact by Bishop-Gromov-type comparison that holds in any case [Stu06b, LV09, BS10, EKS15]. In this paper we will always assume that supp m = X. **Theorem 2.8** ([Stu06a, Stu06b, LV09, GMS15, EKS15]). All of the previous curvature-dimension conditions CD(K,N), $CD^*(K,N)$ and $CD^e(K,N)$ are stable under pointed measured Gromov-Hausdorff convergence, and yield Brunn-Minkowski-type inequalities if N is finite. In the case K = 0 the latter is the same statement for every curvature-dimension condition: For each pair of measurable subsets $A_0, A_1 \subset X$ it holds that

(5)
$$m(A_t)^{\frac{1}{N}} \ge (1-t)m(A_0)^{\frac{1}{N}} + tm(A_1)^{\frac{1}{N}}$$

where A_t is the set of t-midpoints of geodesics with endpoints in A_0 and A_1 respectively.

The next fact, the next lemma and the next theorem collect a number of important properties of spaces that satisfy a curvature-dimension condition.

Fact 2.9 ([Stu06b, BS10, EKS15]). (X, d, m) satisfies a condition CD(K, N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0, \infty)$. Then

- (i) $(\operatorname{supp} m, d_{\operatorname{supp} m})$ is locally compact, a geodesic space and satisfies a Bishop-Gromov-type comparison and a doubling property.
- (ii) $(X, \alpha d, \beta m)$ satisfies the condition $CD(\alpha^{-2}K, N)$ for every $\alpha, \beta > 0$.
- (iii) If $U \subset X$ is geodesically convex and closed, $(U, d_U, m|_U)$ satisfies the condition CD(K, N).
- (iv) If (X, d, m) satisfies a condition CD(K, N) for $N < \infty$, then it satisfies $CD(K, \infty)$.

Each of the previous statements holds for $CD^*(K, N)$ and $CD^e(K, N)$ as well.

Lemma 2.10 ([EKS15]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space satisfying a condition $CD(K, \infty)$, $CD(K,N), CD^*(K,N) \text{ or } CD^e(K,N) \text{ for some } K \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } N \in (0,\infty), \text{ and let } f: X \to \mathbb{R} \text{ be}$ κ -convex for $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and bounded from below. Then the metric measure space $(X, d, e^{-f}m)$ satisfies the condition $CD(K + \kappa, \infty)$.

Theorem 2.11 ([Raj12b, Raj12a]). A metric measure space (X, d, m) that satisfies CD(K, N), $CD^*(K,N)$ or $CD^e(K,N)$ for $K \in \mathbb{R}$, $N \in (0,\infty)$, admits a weak local 1-1 Poincaré inequality.

[Raj12b, Raj12a] proves this for CD(K, N) and $CD^*(K, N)$ but it's easy to see that the proof also works for $CD^e(K, N)$.

2.2. Cheeger energy and calculus for metric measure spaces. In the following we present the framework for calculus on metric measure spaces by Ambrosio, Gigli and Savaré [AGS13, AGS14a, AGS14b, Gig15]. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space, and Lip(X) and Lip(X) be the space of Lipschitz functions, and bounded Lipschitz functions respectively. For $f \in Lip(X)$ its local slope is

$$\operatorname{Lip}(f)(x) = \limsup_{y \to x} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{d(x, y)}, \ x \in X.$$

If $f \in L^2(m)$ a function $g \in L^2(m)$ is called *relaxed gradient* if there exists sequence of Lipschitz functions f_n which L^2 -converges to f, and there exists \tilde{g} such that $\operatorname{Lip} f_n$ weakly converges to \tilde{g} in $L^2(m)$ and $\tilde{g} \leq g$ m-a.e.. We say g is the minimal relaxed gradient of f if it is a relaxed gradient and minimal w.r.t. to the L^2 -norm amongst all relaxed gradients. The *Cheeger energy* $\operatorname{Ch}^X : L^2(m) \to [0, \infty]$ is defined as

$$2\operatorname{Ch}^{X}(f) = \liminf_{f_n \in \operatorname{Lip}(X) \xrightarrow{L^{2}(m)} f} \int_{X} \operatorname{Lip}(f_n)^2 dm.$$

The space of L^2 -Sobolev functions is then

$$W^{1,2}(X) := D(\operatorname{Ch}^X) := \left\{ f \in L^2(m) : \operatorname{Ch}^X(f) < \infty \right\}.$$

For any $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ there exists a minimal relaxed that is denoted with $|\nabla f|$ and unique up to set of measure 0. One also calls $|\nabla f|$ the minimal weak upper gradient of f. Then, one has

$$\operatorname{Ch}^{X}(f) = \frac{1}{2} \int |\nabla f|^{2} dm.$$

The space $W^{1,2}(X)$ equipped with the norm $||f||^2_{W^{1,2}(X)} = ||f||^2_{L^2} + ||\nabla f||^2_{L^2}$ is a Banach space. If $W^{1,2}(X)$ is a Hilbert space, we say (X, d, m) is infinitesimally Hilbertian.

Remark 2.12. Note that in general $|\nabla u| \neq \text{Lip } u$ for a Lipschitz function u unless (X, d, m) satisfies a Poincaré inequality and a doubling property [Che99, Theorem 5.1]. By [Raj12b, Raj12a] spaces satisfying CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ or $CD^e(K, N)$ with $N < \infty$ do satisfy a 1-1 Poincaré inequality (Theorem 2.11). Hence for such spaces [Che99] applies and $|\nabla u| = \text{Lip } u$ a.e. for any Lipschitz u.

If (X, d, m) is infinitesimally Hilbertian, by polarization of $|\nabla f|^2$ we can define

$$(f,g) \in W^{1,2}(X)^2 \mapsto \langle \nabla f, \nabla g \rangle := \frac{1}{4} |\nabla (f+g)|^2 - \frac{1}{4} |\nabla (f-g)|^2 \in L^1(m).$$

We say that $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ is in the domain of the Laplace operator Δ if there exists a function $g := \Delta f \in L^2(m)$ such that for every $h \in W^{1,2}(X)$

$$\int \langle \nabla f, \nabla h \rangle dm = -\int h \Delta f dm$$

In this case we say that $f \in D(\Delta)$. The vector space $D(\Delta)$ is equipped with the operator norm

$$\|f\|_{D(\Delta)}^{2} = \|f\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta f\|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$

Convergence in $D(\Delta)$ implies convergence in $W^{1,2}(X)$. If \mathbb{V} is any subspace of $L^2(m)$ and we have that $\Delta f \in \mathbb{V}$, we write $f \in D_{\mathbb{V}}(\Delta)$. $(P_t)_{t \in (0,\infty)}$ denotes the heat semi-group associated to Δ .

More generally, – assuming X is locally compact – if U is an open subset of X, we say $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ is in the domain $D(\Delta, U)$ of the measure valued Laplace Δ on U if there exists a signed Radon measure $\mu =: \Delta f$ such that for every Lipschitz function g with bounded support in U we have

$$\int \langle \nabla g, \nabla f \rangle dm = -\int g d\mathbf{\Delta} f.$$

Proposition 2.13 ([Gig15]). Let (X, d, m) be an infinitesimally Hilbertian metric measure space, let $f \in D(\Delta, U) \cap \text{Lip}(X)$ for an open subset $U \subset X$, let $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ be an open subset, assume $m(f^{-1}(\mathbb{R}\backslash I)) = 0$, and let $\varphi \in C^2(I)$. Then $\varphi \circ f \in D(\Delta, U)$ and

$$\Delta(\varphi \circ f) = \varphi'(f)\Delta f + \varphi''(f)|\nabla f|^2 m \quad on \ U.$$

Definition 2.14 ([AGS14b, Gig15]). A metric measure space (X, d, m) satisfies the Riemannian curvature-dimension condition RCD(K, N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty]$ if it satisfies the curvature-dimension condition CD(K, N), and if it is infinitesimally Hilbertian.

Remark 2.15. For $N = \infty$ the condition was first introduced and studied in [AGS14b], for $N < \infty$ in [Gig15].

Remark 2.16. By the globalization theorem of Cavalletti and Milman [CM16], and by results in [EKS15], [AGS14b] and [RS14] in the previous definition it is equivalent to require the condition $CD^*(K, N)$ or the condition $CD^e(K, N)$. More precisely, since each condition implies $CD(K, \infty)$, together with infinitesimally Hilbertianness (X, d, m) satisfies the condition $RCD(K, \infty)$ in the sense of [AGS14b]. Therefore, the Boltzmann-Shanon entropy is even strongly K-convex, and hence (X, d, m) is essentially non-branchning by [RS14]. Then, first we know that $CD^*(K, N)$ is equivalent to $CD^e(K, N)$ by [EKS15]. Second, from the globalization result in [CM16] we have that $CD^*(K, N)$ is equivalent to CD(K, N).

Definition 2.17. Further, we define $md_{\kappa} : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$ as the solution of

$$v'' + \kappa v = 1$$
 $v(0) = 0$ & $v'(0) = 0$.

More explicitly

$$\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\kappa} \left(1 - \cos_{\kappa} x\right) & \text{if } \kappa \neq 0, \\ \frac{1}{2}x^2 & \text{if } \kappa = 0. \end{cases}$$

Theorem 2.18 ([Gig15]). Assume (X, d, m) satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) for $N < \infty$, and for $x \in X$ we define $d_x : X \to [0, \infty)$ via $d_x(y) = d(x, y)$. Then

$$\frac{1}{2}d_y^2 \in D(\mathbf{\Delta}) \quad and \quad \mathbf{\Delta}\frac{1}{2}d_y^2 \le \left[1 + (N-1)d_y \cot_{K/(N-1)} d_y\right]m$$

where $\cot_k(x) = \frac{\cos_k(x)}{\sin_k(x)}$. In particular, for K = 0 the estimate is precisely $\Delta \frac{1}{2} d_y^2 \leq Nm$.

Remark 2.19. The Theorem is actually proven by Gigli under the condition CD(K, N) and it is sharp in this context. Moreover, for the sharp comparison result of $\frac{1}{2}d_y^2$ only the weaker MCP(K, N)-condition is needed that follows from the reduced curvature-dimension condition $CD^*(K, N)$ by [CS12] provided the space is essentially non-branching.

Corollary 2.20. Assume (X, d, m) satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) for $N < \infty$. Then for any $y \in X$ we have

$$\operatorname{md}_{\kappa} d_{y} \in D(\Delta) \quad \text{for any } \kappa \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and } \quad \Delta \operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_{y} + \frac{NK}{N-1} \operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_{y} \leq Nm$$

Proof. Indeed, By the chain rule Theorem 2.18 implies (see also [Gig15, Corollary 5.15]) that $d_y \in D(\mathbf{\Delta}, X \setminus \{y\})$ and

$$\Delta d_y \le [(N-1) \cot_{K/(N-1)} d_y] m \text{ on } X \setminus \{y\}$$

Applying the chain rule one more time this yields

 $\operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_y \in D(\mathbf{\Delta}, X \setminus \{y\}) \text{ and } \mathbf{\Delta} \operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_y + \frac{NK}{N-1} \operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_y \leq Nm \text{ on } X \setminus \{y\}.$

Further note that

$$\operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(x) = \frac{1}{2}x^2 - \frac{\kappa}{24}x^4 + \dots$$

and hence $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(x) = \varphi_{\kappa}(x^2/2)$ where φ_{κ} is a smooth function on \mathbb{R} given by

$$\varphi_{\kappa}(x) = x - \frac{\kappa}{6}x^2 + \dots$$

Therefore $\operatorname{md}_{\kappa} d_y = \varphi_k(\frac{d_y^2}{2}) \in D(\mathbf{\Delta})$ for any $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$ and (6) can be improved to

$$\Delta \operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_y + \frac{NK}{N-1} \operatorname{md}_{K/(N-1)} d_y \le Nm \text{ on all of } X.$$

2.3. Tangent modules of metric measure spaces. In this section we present a general construction of *tangent spaces* for metric measure spaces due to Gigli (inspired by an idea of Weaver [Wea99]).

Definition 2.21 ([Gig14]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space, and let \mathcal{M} be a Banach space. \mathcal{M} is called an $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module provided it is endowed with a bilinear map $L^{\infty}(m) \times \mathcal{M} : (f, v) \mapsto fv \in \mathcal{M}$, and a function $|\cdot| : \mathcal{M} \to L^2(m)^+$ which satisfy the following properties:

- (i) f(gv) = (fg)v for all $f, g \in L^{\infty}(m)$ and $v \in \mathcal{M}$,
- (ii) $\mathbf{1}v = v$ for any $v \in \mathcal{M}$ where $\mathbf{1} \in L^{\infty}(m)$ is the function equal 1,
- (iii) $|||v|||_{L^2} = ||v||_{\mathcal{M}}$ for any $v \in \mathcal{M}$,
- (iv) |fv| = |f||v| *m*-a.e. for any $f \in L^{\infty}(m)$ and $v \in \mathcal{M}$.

Consider a Borel measurable set $A \subset X$. The restriction $\mathcal{M}|_A$ of \mathcal{M} to A is defined as

$$\mathcal{M}|_{A} = \{ v \in \mathcal{M} : 1_{A^{c}} v = 0 \text{ m-a.e.} \}.$$

 $\mathcal{M}|_A$ inherits the structure of $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module.

Given two $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -modules \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{N} we say that a map $T : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N}$ is module morphism provided T is linear, continuous and it satisfies

$$T(fv) = fT(v)$$
 for every $f \in L^{\infty}(m)$ and every $v \in \mathcal{M}$.

Definition 2.22. Given an $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module \mathcal{M} we define the dual module \mathcal{M}^* as the space of all maps T from \mathcal{M} to $L^1(m)$ that are L^{∞} -linear (that is additive and L^{∞} -homogenuous) and continuous. \mathcal{M}^* again has a natural structure of an $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module. For details we refer to [Gig14].

Definition 2.23. We call an $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module \mathcal{M} an *Hilbert module* if \mathcal{M} is an Hilbert space. In this case \mathcal{M} becomes an $L^{2}(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module, and the pointwise norm $|\cdot|$ satisfies

$$|v+w|^2 + |v-w|^2 = 2|v|^2 + 2|w|^2$$
 for any $v, w \in \mathcal{M}$.

We define the pointwise inner product $\mathcal{M}^2 \to L^1(m)$ via $4\langle v, w \rangle = |v + w|^2 - |v - w|^2$. Following [Gig14] we also note that \mathcal{M} and \mathcal{M}^* are canonical isomorphic as Hilbert modules.

Definition 2.24. Let \mathcal{M} be an $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module, and let $A \subset X$ be a Borel set such that m(A) > 0. We say that

(i) $v_1, \ldots, v_n \in \mathcal{M}$ are *independent* on A if for $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in L^{\infty}(m)$ it holds that

$$1_A \sum_{i=1}^n f_i v_i = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad f_1, \dots, f_n = 0 \text{ m-a.e. in } A,$$

(ii) $S \subset \mathcal{M}$ generates $\mathcal{M}|_A$ if $\mathcal{M}|_A$ is the L^2 -closure of elements v in $\mathcal{M}|_A$ such that there is a decomposition of $\{A_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ of A, vectors $v_{i,1},\ldots,v_{i,m_i}\in S$, and functions $f_{i,1},\ldots,f_{i,m_i}\in L^{\infty}(m)$ which satisfy

$$1_{A_i}v = \sum_{k=1}^{m_i} f_{i,k}v_{i,k} \text{ m-a.e. for each } i \in \mathbb{N},$$

(iii) $v_1, \ldots, v_n \in \mathcal{M}$ is a *(module) basis* on A if they are independent on A and generate $\mathcal{M}|_A$. If A admits a basis of finite cardinality $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we say that A has *local dimension* n. If A admits no basis of finite cardinality, we say A has infinite local dimension.

Remark 2.25. It is easy to see that in (ii) one only needs to require that $\mathcal{M}|_A$ is the L^2 -closure of finite L^{∞} -linear combinations of elements in S where an L^{∞} -linear combination is defined by

$$\sum_{l=1}^{m} f_l v_l \text{ where } f_l \in L^{\infty}(m) \text{ and } v_l \in S.$$

The more general statement (ii) - that also appears in [Gig14] - is to deal with L^{∞} -modules that are not necessarily $L^{p}(m)$ -normed.

Proposition 2.26 (Proposition 1.4.4. [Gig14]). Local dimension is well-defined: If both v_1, \ldots, v_n and w_1, \ldots, w_n are bases of an $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module \mathcal{M} on A for $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$, then m = n.

CD MEETS CAT

Proposition 2.27 (Proposition 1.4.5. [Gig14]). There is a unique partition $\{E_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}$ of X such that for any $k\in\mathbb{N}$ with $m(E_k)>0$ E_k has local dimension k, and any $E\subset E_{\infty}$ with m(E)>0 has infinite local dimension.

Proposition 2.28 (Proof of Theorem 1.4.11. [Gig14]). Let \mathcal{M} be an Hilbert module. Then, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and any Borel set $B \subset X$ that has local dimension n and finite measure, there exists a unit orthogonal basis $e_1, \ldots, e_n \in \mathcal{M}$ on B. That is $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle = \delta_{i,j}$ m-almost everywhere.

Remark 2.29. If $(e_i)_{i=1,\dots,n}$ is a unit orthogonal basis on B, and $v1_A = \sum_{i=1}^n f_i e_i \in \mathcal{M}$ for $f_i \in L^{\infty}$ and A a Borel subset in B, then

$$|v1_A|^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n |f_i|^2$$
 and $||v1_A||_{\mathcal{M}}^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n ||f_i||_{L^2(m)}^2$.

Theorem 2.30 ([Gig14]). Let (X, d, m) be metric measure space. There exists a unique (up to module isomorphisms) couple (\mathcal{M}, d) where \mathcal{M} is an $L^2(m)$ -normed $L^{\infty}(m)$ -module and d is a linear map $W^{1,2}(m) \to \mathcal{M}$ such that

- (i) $|df| = |\nabla f|$ holds m-a.e. on X, and
- (ii) $\{df \in \mathcal{M} : f \in W^{1,2}(m)\}\$ generates \mathcal{M} on X.

If two couples (\mathcal{M}, d) and (\mathcal{M}', d') satisfy the properties above then there exists a unique module isomorphism $\Phi : \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}'$ such that $\Phi \circ d = d'$.

The unique module above is called the cotangent module of (X, d, m), and it is denoted with $L^2(T^*X)$. Its dual module is called the tangent module and denoted with $L^2(TX)$. Elements in $L^2(T^*X)$ are called 1-forms, and elements in $L^2(TX)$ are called vector fields. The map d is called differential.

If (X, d, m) is infinitesimally Hilbertian, then $L^2(T^*X)$ is a Hilbert module, and we have $\Phi : L^2(T^*X) \equiv L^2(TX)$ for the Hilbert module isomorphism $\Phi(X) = \langle X, \cdot \rangle : L^2(TX) \to L^1(m)$. $\Phi^{-1} \circ d = \nabla$ is called gradient.

2.4. Bakry-Emery condition. The following was introduced in [AGS15]. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that is infinitesimally Hilbertian but does not necessarily satisfy a curvaturedimension condition. For $f \in D_{W^{1,2}(X)}(\Delta)$ and $\varphi \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(m)$ we define the *carré du champ operator* as

$$\Gamma_2(f;\varphi) = \int \frac{1}{2} |\nabla f|^2 \Delta \varphi dm - \int \langle \nabla f, \nabla \Delta f \rangle \varphi dm.$$

We say that (X, d, m) satisfies the *Bakry-Emery condition* BE(K, N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0, \infty]$ if it satisfies the weak Bochner inequality

$$\Gamma_2(f;\varphi) \ge \frac{1}{N} \int (\Delta f)^2 \varphi dm + K \int |\nabla f|^2 \varphi dm.$$

for any $f \in D_{W^{1,2}(X)}(\Delta)$ and $\varphi \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(m), \varphi \ge 0$.

We say a metric measure space satisfies the Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property [Gig15] if

$$\left\{f \in W^{1,2}(X) : |\nabla f| \in L^{\infty}(m)\right\} = \operatorname{Lip}(X)$$

More precisely, for any Sobolev function in with bounded minimal weak upper gradient there exist a Lipschitz function \bar{f} that coincides *m*-almost everywhere with f such $\text{Lip}(\bar{f}) \ge |\nabla f|$.

Theorem 2.31 ([EKS15, AGS15]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space. Then, the condition RCD(K, N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and N > 1 holds if and only if (X, d, m) is infinitesimally Hilbertian, it satisfies the Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property and it satisfies the Bakry-Emery condition BE(K, N).

Remark 2.32. The case $N = \infty$ was proved in [AGS15], the case $N < \infty$ in [EKS15]. Shortly after [EKS15] an alternative proof for the finite dimensional case - following a completely different strategy - was established in [AMS15].

2.5. Rectifiability. Following [GP16] we say a family $\{A_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an *m*-partition of $E \subset X$ if it is a partition of some Borel set $F \subset X$ such that $m(E \setminus F) = 0$.

Definition 2.33. A metric measure space (X, d, m) is strongly *m*-rectifiable if there exists a *m*-partition $\{A_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of X into measurable sets A_k such that for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and every $\epsilon > 0$ there exists an *m*-partition $\{U_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ of A_k and measurable maps $\varphi_i : U_i \to \mathbb{R}^k$ such that for every $i \in \mathbb{N}$

 $\varphi_i : U_i \to \varphi(U_i)$ is $(1+\epsilon)$ -biLipschitz & $(\varphi_i)_{\star}(m|_{U_i}) \ll \mathcal{L}^k$.

The partition $\{A_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ that is unique up to a *m*-negligible set is called dimensional partition of X.

Theorem 2.34 ([MN14, KM16, GP16]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that satisfies the curvature-dimension condition RCD(K, N) for $N \in (0, \infty)$. Then (X, d, m) is strongly mrectifiable, and $m(A_k) = 0$ for k > N.

Theorem 2.35 ([GP16]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) for $N \in (0, \infty)$, and let A_k its dimensional decomposition. Then, the local dimension of A_k is $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$. Hence $A_k = E_k$ for any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ where E_k is as in Proposition 2.27.

Definition 2.36. If (X, d, m) satisfies the condition RCD(K, N), we say $x_0 \in A_k$ is a regular point if the Gromov-Hausdorff tangent cone at x_0 is \mathbb{R}^k where $\{A_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is the dimensional decomposition of X. We denote the set of all regular points X_{reg} .

2.6. Hessian operator. Recall from [Gig14] that $L^2((T^*X)^{\otimes 2})$ is the subset of elements A in the L^0 -module-tensor product $L^0((T^*X)^{\otimes 2})$ such that

$$||A|_{HS}||_{L^2(m)}^2 = \int |A|_{HS}^2 dm < \infty.$$

 $|A|_{HS}$ is the pointwise Hilbert-Schmidt norm whose construction can be found in [Gig14]. Similar, one constructs $L^2((TX)^{\otimes 2})$, and if $L^2(T^*X)$ and $L^2(TX)$ are Hilbert modules, $L^2(T^*X^{\otimes 2})$ and $L^2(TX^{\otimes 2})$ are isomorphic Hilbert modules as well. $L^2(T^*X^{\otimes 2})$ can be seen as the space of all continuous bilinear forms $A : L^2(TX)^2 \to L^0(m)$ such that $||A|_{HS}||_{L^2(m)} < \infty$. L^0 -continuity corresponds for *m* finite and normalized to *convergence in probability*. Recall also that for $A \in$ $L^2(T^*X^{\otimes 2})$

$$A(X, Y) \le |A|_{HS} |X| |Y|$$
 m-a.e.

when $X, Y \in L^2(TX)$. In particular, $A(X, Y) \notin L^1(m)$ in general.

Definition 2.37. The space of test functions is

$$\mathbb{D}_{\infty} = D_{W^{1,2}(X)}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(m) \cap \left\{ f \in W^{1,2}(X) : |\nabla f| \in L^{\infty}(m) \right\}.$$

If (X, d, m) satisfies a Riemannian curvature-dimension condition, then $P_t L^{\infty}(m)$ is a subset of \mathbb{D}_{∞} , it is dense in $W^{1,2}(X)$ and in $D_{L^2(m)}(\Delta)$ w.r.t. the Sobolev norm and the graph norm of the operator Δ respectively, and by the Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property we have $\mathbb{D}_{\infty} \subset \text{Lip}_b(X)$. Moreover, the co-tangent module $L^2(T^*X)$ is generated by

$$T\mathbb{D}_{\infty} = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{n} g_i df_i : n \in \mathbb{N}, \ g_i, f_i \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}, i = 1, \dots, n \right\}$$

Definition 2.38 ([Gig14]). The space $W^{2,2}(X) \subset W^{1,2}(X)$ is the set of all functions $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ for which there exists $A \in L^2(T^*X \otimes T^*X)$ such that for all $f, g_1, g_2 \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}$ we have

$$2\int hA(dg_1, dg_2)dm$$
(7)
$$= -\int h\langle \nabla f, \nabla \langle \nabla g_1, \nabla g_2 \rangle\rangle dm - \int \langle \nabla f, \nabla g_1 \rangle \operatorname{div}(h\nabla g_2)dm - \int \langle \nabla f, \nabla g_2 \rangle \operatorname{div}(h\nabla g_1)dm$$

where $\operatorname{div}(h\nabla g) = \langle \nabla h, \nabla g \rangle + h\Delta g$. In this case the operator A will be called the *Hessian* of f and will be denoted with Hess f. $W^{2,2}(X)$ is equipped with the norm

$$||f||^2_{W^{2,2}(X)} = ||f||^2_{L^2} + |||\operatorname{Hess} f|_{HS}||^2_{L^2}$$

We say that Hess $f \geq \kappa$ on a measurable subset B for $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$ if for any $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}$

Hess
$$f(1_B \nabla u, \nabla u) \ge \kappa |1_B \nabla u|^2 = \kappa 1_B |\nabla u|^2$$
 m-almost everywhere.

Remark 2.39. We note that the density property of \mathbb{D}_{∞} and the fact that \mathbb{D}_{∞} is an algebra ensure that Hess $f \in L^2(T^*X \otimes T^*X)$ is uniquely determined by (7). Then it is clear that Hess f depends linearly on f, and $W^{2,2}(X)$ therefore becomes a vector space.

Lemma 2.40. Consider $f \in W^{2,2}(X)$, and assume Hess $f \ge \kappa$ m-a.e. on B. Then Hess $f(1_BV, 1_BV) \ge \kappa |V|^2 1_B$ m-a.e. for every $V \in L^2(TX)$.

Proof. Let $V \in L^2(TX)$. It is enough to consider the case B = X. Since $T\mathbb{D}_{\infty}$ generates $L^2(TX)$, Remark 2.25 we find functions $f_{k,i}, g_{k,i} \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}$ with $i = 1, \ldots, n_k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$V_k = \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} f_{k,i} \nabla g_{k,i} \to V \text{ in } L^2(TX).$$

Then, since every $f_{k,i}$ can be approximated in L^2 -sense by measurable functions that take only finitely many values in \mathbb{R} , and since ∇ is linear, we see that X is approximated in L^2 -sense by vector fields W_k of the form

$$W_k = \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \mathbb{1}_{B_{k,i}} \nabla h_{i,k}$$

for measurable decompositions $\{B_{k,i}\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ of X, and $h_{k,i}\in\mathbb{D}_{\infty}$. Hence, we have

Hess
$$f(W_k, W_k) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n_k} \text{Hess } f(1_{B_{k,i}} \nabla h_{i,k}, 1_{B_{k,j}} \nabla h_{j,k})$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^{n_k} 1_{B_{k,i}} \text{Hess } f(\nabla h_{k,i}, \nabla h_{k,i}) \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n_k} \kappa |\nabla h_{k,i}|^2 = \kappa |W_k|^2$ *m*-a.e. on *B*.

The second equality is the L^{∞} -homogeneity of Hess $f(\cdot, \cdot)$. Hence, by L^2 -convergence of W_k in $L^2(TX)$ the right hand side converges *m*-a.e. to |V| after taking a subsequence. Moreover, by continuity of the bilinear for Hess $f: L^2(TX)^2 \to L^0(m)$ the left hand side converges *m*-a.e. to Hess f(V, V) after taking another subsequence. Then, the claim follows.

Theorem 2.41 ([Gig14, Sav14]). Let $f \in D_{L^2}(\Delta)$. Then $f \in W^{2,2}(X)$, and

$$\int |\operatorname{Hess} f|_{HS}^2 dm \le \int \left[\left(\Delta f \right)^2 - K |\nabla f|^2 \right] dm.$$

In particular, $\mathbb{D}_{\infty} \subset W^{2,2}(X)$.

Proposition 2.42 ([Gig14]). Let $f \in W^{2,2}(X) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(X)$ and let $\varphi \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$ with bounded first and second derivative. Then $\varphi \circ f \in W^{2,2}(X)$ and the following formula holds

$$\operatorname{Hess}^{X}(\varphi \circ f)(\nabla u, \nabla u) = \varphi' \circ f \operatorname{Hess}^{X} f(\nabla u, \nabla u) + \varphi'' \circ f \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \quad \forall u \in W^{1,2}(X).$$

Definition 2.43. $H^{2,2}(X)$ is defined as the closure of \mathbb{D}_{∞} in $W^{2,2}(X)$.

Remark 2.44. $H^{2,2}(X)$ actually coincides with the $W^{2,2}$ -closure of $D(\Delta)$ (Proposition 3.3.18 in [Gig14]). In particular, any $f \in D(\Delta)$ is in $H^{2,2}(X)$ and admits a Hessian.

Proposition 2.45 ([Gig14], Proposition 3.3.22). Let $f \in W^{2,2}(X) \cap \text{Lip}(X)$ and $g_1, g_2 \in H^{2,2}(X) \cap \text{Lip}(X)$. Then, $\langle \nabla f, \nabla g_i \rangle \in W^{1,2}(X), i = 1, 2$ and

$$2\operatorname{Hess} f(\nabla g_1, \nabla g_2) = \langle \nabla g_1, \nabla \langle \nabla f, \nabla g_2 \rangle \rangle + \langle \nabla g_2, \nabla \langle \nabla f, \nabla g_1 \rangle \rangle - \langle \nabla f, \nabla \langle \nabla g_1, \nabla g_2 \rangle \rangle.$$

Remark 2.46. In the case when $f \in D(\Delta)$ is Lipschitz Hess $f(\nabla g_1, \nabla g_2)$ for $g_1, g_2 \in H^{2,2}(X)$ can be computed explicitly by the previous Proposition since $D(\Delta) \subset H^{2,2}(X)$ by the previous remark.

Theorem 2.47 ([Gig15], [GT17]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) for $N < \infty$. Let $\mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}^1(X)$ such $\mu_i = \rho_i m \leq Cm$ for C > 0 and i = 0, 1, and let $(\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ be the unique L^2 -Wasserstein geodesic.

(i) First variation formula. Let $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$. Then, the map $t \in [0,1] \to \int f d\mu_t$ belongs to $C^1([0,1])$ and for every $t \in [0,1]$ it holds

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int f d\mu_t = \int \langle \nabla f, \nabla \varphi \rangle d\mu_t.$$

(ii) Second variation formula. Moreover, let $f \in H^{2,2}(X)$. Then, the map $t \in [0,1] \to \int f d\mu_t$ belongs to $C^2([0,1])$ and for every $t \in [0,1]$ it holds

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} \int f d\mu_t = \int \operatorname{Hess} f(\nabla \varphi_t, \nabla \varphi_t) d\mu_t$$

where φ_t is the function such that for some $t \neq s \in [0,1]$ the function $-(s-t)\varphi_t$ is a Kantorovich potential between μ_t and μ_s .

Theorem 2.48 ([Sav14, Gig14]). If (X, d, m) satisfies the condition $RCD(K, \infty)$, and $f \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty} \subset W^{2,2}(X)$, then $|\nabla f|^2 \in W^{1,2}(X) \cap D(\Delta)$ and an improved Bochner formula holds in the sense of measures involving the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of the Hessian of f:

$$\Gamma_2(f) := \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{\Delta} |\nabla f|^2 - \langle \nabla f, \nabla \Delta f \rangle m \ge \left[K |\nabla f|^2 + |\operatorname{Hess} f|_{HS}^2 \right] m$$

where Δ is the measure valued Laplace operator, and Γ_2 is called measure valued Γ_2 -operator. In particular, the singular part of the left hand side is non-negative.

In the context of RCD(K, N)-spaces with finite N the previous theorem was improved by Han [Han14], and in particular, he obtains the following.

Theorem 2.49 ([Han14]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) with $N < \infty$, and let $\{A_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$ be its dimensional decomposition. If $A_N \neq \emptyset$ and therefore $N \in \mathbb{N}$, then for any $f \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}$ we have that $\Delta f = \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{Hess} f$ m-a.e. in A_N . More precisely, if $B \subset A_N$ is a set of finite measure and $(e_i)_{i=1,\ldots,N}$ is a unit orthogonal basis on B, then

$$\Delta f|_B = \sum_{i=1}^N \text{Hess } f(e_i 1_B, e_i 1_B) = \sum_{i=1}^N \text{Hess } f(e_i, e_i) 1_B =: [\text{tr Hess } f]|_B.$$

Corollary 2.50. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that satisfies the condition RCD(K, n)with $m = \mathcal{H}^n$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $A_k = \emptyset$ for $k \neq n$, and for any $f \in D_{L^2}(\Delta)$ we have that $\Delta f = \text{tr Hess } f$ m-almost everywhere in the sense of the previous theorem.

Proof. The first claim is clear from the assumptions. Let $f \in D_{L^2}(\Delta)$, and consider a sequence $\varphi_j \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}$ that approximates f in $D_{L^2}(\Delta)$. Moreover, let $B \subset A_n$ be a Borel set of finite measure and let $(e_i)_{i=1,\dots,n}$ be a unit orthogonal basis and tr be the corresponding trace. It follows

$$\int 1_B (\Delta f - \operatorname{tr}\operatorname{Hess} f|_B)^2 dm = \int 1_B (\Delta f - \Delta \varphi_j + \operatorname{tr}\operatorname{Hess} \varphi_j|_B - \operatorname{tr}\operatorname{Hess} f|_B)^2 dm$$
$$\leq 2 \int 1_B (\Delta f - \Delta \varphi_j)^2 dm + 2 \int 1_B (\operatorname{tr}[\operatorname{Hess}(\varphi_j - f)]|_B)^2 dm$$
$$\leq 2 \|\Delta f - \Delta \varphi_j\|_{L^2(m)}^2 + n \, \||\operatorname{Hess}(f - \varphi_j)|_{HS}\|^2 \leq \epsilon$$

where the last inequality holds for arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$ provided j is sufficiently large. We obtain that $\Delta f|_B = \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{Hess} f|_B m$ -a.e. and therefore the claim.

2.7. Upper and lower sectional curvature bounds for metric spaces. We recall the following notions of spaces with curvature bounded below (above) for geodesic metric spaces

Definition 2.51. We say that a complete geodesic metric space (X, d) is $CBB(\kappa)$ or has curvature bounded below by $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$ (respectively is CAT(k)) if for any triple of points $x, y, z \in X$ with $d(x, y) + d(y, z) + d(z, x) < 2\pi_{\kappa}$ the following condition holds.

For any geodesic [xz] and $q \in]xz[$, we have

(8)
$$d(y,q) \ge d(\bar{y},\bar{q}) (\text{ respectively } d(y,q) \le d(\bar{y},\bar{q}))$$

where $\triangle(\bar{x}, \bar{y}, \bar{z})_{\mathbb{S}^2_{\kappa}}$ is a comparison triangle in \mathbb{S}^2_{κ} with $d(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = d(x, y), d(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = d(x, z), d(\bar{z}, \bar{y}) = d(z, y)$ and $\bar{q} \in |\bar{x}\bar{z}|$ satisfies $d(\bar{q}, \bar{x}) = d(q, x)$.

If $\kappa > 0$ and a X is a 1-dimensional manifold with possibly nonempty boundary for X to be $CBB(\kappa)$ we additionally require that diam $X \leq \pi_{\kappa}$.

Property (8) is equivalent to saying that for any unit speed geodesic $\gamma: [0, l] \to X$ such that

(9)
$$d(y,\gamma(0)) + l + d(\gamma(l),y) < 2\pi_k,$$

it holds that

(10)
$$\left[\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_{y}\circ\gamma)\right]'' + \mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_{y}\circ\gamma) \leq 1 (\text{ respectively } \geq 1)$$

A reformulation of this inequality is - taking into account the definition of md_{κ} via \cos_{κ} -

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\kappa} \cos_{\kappa}(d_{y} \circ \gamma) \end{bmatrix}'' \ge -\cos_{\kappa}(d_{y} \circ \gamma) \quad (\text{respectively } \le \cos_{\kappa}(d_{y} \circ \gamma)) \quad \text{if } \kappa \ne 0 \quad \& \\ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}d_{y}^{2} \circ \gamma \end{bmatrix}'' \le 1 \quad (\ge 1) \quad \text{if } \kappa = 0.$$

In particular, (X, d) has curv ≥ 0 (is CAT(0)) if and only if for any $y \in X$ the function $\frac{1}{2}d_y^2$ is 1-concave (1-convex).

We will refer to CBB version of inequality (8) as $(8)_{(CBB)}$ and to the CAT version of it as $(8)_{(CAT)}$. We will employ the same convention for (10).

Remark 2.52. It's immediate from the definition that in a $CAT(\kappa)$ space X geodesics of length $< \pi_{\kappa}$ are unique and depend continuously on their endpoints. Also, local geodesic of length $< \pi_{\kappa}$ are distance minimizing, i.e. are geodesics.

Definition 2.53. We say that a complete geodesic space (X, d) is $CBA(\kappa)$ (has curvature bounded above by κ) if for every point $p \in X$ there is $r_p > 0$ such that $(8)_{(CAT)}$ holds for any $x, y, z \in B_{r_p}(p)$.

Remark 2.54. In the above definition of $CBA(\kappa)$ we do not require that the geodesics [xy], [xz], [yz]lie in $B_{r_p}(p)$. However, it immediately follows from $(8)_{(CAT)}$ that $B_r(p)$ is convex for any $r < \min(r_p, \pi_k/2)$. If X is $CAT(\kappa)$ this gives that $B_r(p)$ is convex and $\bar{B}_r(p)$ is $CAT(\kappa)$ for any $r < \pi_{\kappa}/2$.

Example 2.55. The standard sphere \mathbb{S}^n and any geodesically convex subsets of \mathbb{S}^n are CAT(1). On the other hand, for $n \geq 2$ any non simply connected *n*-manifold of sec $\equiv 1$ (e.g. \mathbb{PR}^n) is CBA(1) but not CAT(1).

Remark 2.56. It follows directly from the definition of $CAT(\kappa)$ and from the corresponding computations in \mathbb{S}^2_{κ} that if X is $CAT(\kappa)$ then d_y , and $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)$ are convex in $B_{\pi_k/2}(y)$ for any y in X.

Remark 2.57. Similarly to the definition of $CBA(\kappa)$ one can define locally $CBB(\kappa)$ spaces by requiring that they satisfy $(8)_{(CBB)}$ locally. However, it turns out that this is equivalent to requiring that they satisfy $(8)_{(CBB)}$ globally by the Globalization Theorem [BGP92].

If (X, d) is $CAT(\kappa_1)$ $(CBB(\kappa_1))$ and $\kappa_1 \leq \kappa_2$ ($\kappa_1 \geq \kappa_2$) then (X, d) is $CAT(\kappa_2)$ $(CBB(\kappa_2))$. If (X, d) is $CAT(\kappa)$ $(CBB(\kappa))$ then $(X, \lambda d)$ is $CAT(\kappa/\lambda^2)$ $(CBB(\kappa/\lambda^2))$. Therefore after appropriate rescaling any $CAT(\kappa)$ $(CBB(\kappa))$ becomes CAT(1) (CBB(-1)).

Theorem 2.58 ([BBI01] Theorem 4.7.1). Let (X, d) be a complete geodesic space. Then the euclidean cone C(X) over (X, d) is CAT(0) (CBB(0)) if and only if (X, d) is CAT(1) (CBB(1)).

Let X be $CAT(\kappa)$ and let $y \in X$.

By remark 2.56 d_y , $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)$ are convex in $B_{\pi_k/2}(y)$. Together with the first variation formula [BBI01, Chapter 4] this shows that they admit obvious (inverse) gradient flows on $B_{\pi_k/2}(y)$ following appropriately parameterized unique geodesics connecting points in $B_{\pi_k/2}(y)$ to y. Moreover, the $CAT(\kappa)$ condition implies that all three of these flows of are 1-Lipschitz on $B_{\pi_k/2}(y)$ for any positive time t since this holds in \mathbb{S}^2_{κ} .

Lemma 2.59. Let X be $CAT(\kappa)$ with diam $X < \pi_{\kappa}/2$. Let $y \in X$ and let Φ_t be the gradient flow of $md_{\kappa}(d_y)$ and Ψ_t be the gradient flow of d_y . Then for any $n \ge 1, t \ge 0$ we have

- (1) For any Borel $A \subset X$ it holds that $\mathcal{H}^n(\Phi_t(A)) \leq \mathcal{H}^n(A)$.
- (2) For any Borel $A \subset \Phi_t(X)$

$$(\Phi_t)_{\star}\mathcal{H}^n(A) \ge \mathcal{H}^n(A).$$

Furthermore, the same properties hold for Ψ_t .

Definition 2.60. Given a point p in a $CAT(\kappa)$ space X we say that two unit speed geodesics starting at p define the same direction if the angle between them is zero. This is an equivalence relation by the triangle inequality for angles and the angle induces a metric on the set $S_p^g(X)$ of equivalence classes. The metric completion $\Sigma_p^g X$ of $S_p^g X$ is called the *space of geodesic directions* at p. The Euclidean cone $C(\Sigma_p^g X)$ is called the *geodesic tangent cone* at p and is denoted by $T_p^g X$.

The following theorem is due to Nikolaev [BH99, Theorem 3.19]:

Theorem 2.61. $T_p^g X$ is CAT(0) and $\Sigma_p^g X$ is CAT(1).

Note that this theorem in particular implies that $T_p^g X$ is a geodesic metric space which is not obvious from the definition. Note further that $\Sigma_p^g X$ need not be path connected. In this case the above theorem means that each path component of $\Sigma_p^g X$ is CAT(1) and the distance between points in different components is π .

2.8. Spaces with two sided sectional Alexandrov curvature bounds. Spaces with two sides Alexandrov bounds (i.e. spaces satisfying $CBA(\kappa_1), CBB(\kappa_2)$ for some $\kappa_1, \kappa_2 \in \mathbb{R}$) have been studied by Alexandrov, Nikolaev and Berestovsky. The following structure theorem holds:

Theorem 2.62 ([BN93]). Let (X, d) be a complete finite dimensional geodesic metric space which is $CBA(\kappa_1), CBB(\kappa_2)$ for some $\kappa_1, \kappa_2 \in \mathbb{R}$.

Then $\kappa_2 \leq \kappa_1$ and X is an n-dimensional topological manifold (possibly with boundary) for some $n \geq 1$. Moreover, Int X possesses a canonical $C^{3,\alpha}$ -atlas for $\alpha \in (0,1)$ of harmonic coordinate charts such that in each chart d is induced by a Riemannian tensor g whose coefficients $g_{i,j}$ w.r.t. this chart are in the class $W^{2,p} \cap C^{1,\alpha}$ for any $1 \leq p < \infty, 0 < \alpha < 1$.

Remark 2.63. If X has nonempty boundary then the boundary need not be smooth. E.g. if X is a closed convex body in \mathbb{R}^n then it's CBB(0) and CBA(0).

The following lemma is elementary and is left to the reader as an exercise.

Lemma 2.64. Let (X, d) be an n-dimensional space which is $CAT(\kappa)$ and $CBB(\kappa)$. Then X is isometric to a convex subset of \mathbb{S}^n_{κ} .

CD MEETS CAT

3. Lower bounds for the measure-valued Laplace operator

The following lemma is well-known (see e.g. [BH99]) but we include the proof for completeness.

Lemma 3.1. Let X be $CAT(\kappa)$ and let $p \in X$. Suppose $B_r(p)$ is a topological n-manifold for some $r < \pi_{\kappa}/2$. Then every geodesic $[xy] \subset B_r(p)$ can be extended to a geodesic with end points on $S_r(p)$.

Proof. By completeness of X it's enough to show that geodesics can not terminate at points in $B_r(p)$. Suppose to the contrary that a geodesic $[xy] \subset B_r(p)$ can not be extended past y. By possibly changing x we can assume that $\bar{B}_{2l}(x) \subset U \subset B_r(p)$ where l = d(x, y) and U is homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n . Since $H_{n-1}(U \setminus \{y\}) \cong \mathbb{Z} \neq 0$, the inclusion $i : \bar{B}_{2l}(y) \setminus \{y\} \to U \setminus \{y\}$ is not homotopic to a point. On the other hand, since [xy] can not be extended past y, the "straight line" homotopy (which is continuous by remark 2.52) along geodesics emanating from x gives a homotopy of i and the constant map $\bar{B}_{2l}(y) \setminus \{y\} \to \{x\}$. This is a contradiction and hence all geodesics in $B_r(p)$ can be extended till they hit the sphere $S_r(p)$.

Theorem 3.2. Let (X, d) be a metric space that is $CAT(\kappa)$ and $\operatorname{diam}_X < \pi_{\kappa}/2$. Assume (X, d, \mathcal{H}^n) is a metric measure space satisfying the condition RCD(K, n) for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $x_0 \in X$ be a point such that there is an open neighbourhood U of x_0 that is homeomorphic to an n-manifold. Then, there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that for any $y \in X$ we have

$$[\mathbf{\Delta} \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)]|_{B_{\epsilon}(x_0)} \ge 0 \quad \& \quad [\mathbf{\Delta} d_y]|_{B_{\epsilon}(x_0)} \ge 0$$

Remark 3.3. We note that measure valued Laplacians of $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon}(x_0)}$ and of $d_y|_{\overline{B}_{\epsilon}(x_0)}$ on $B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$ will have negative singular parts on the boundary sphere $S_{\epsilon}(x_0)$.

Proof of Theorem 3.2. We first give a proof for $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)$.

1. Assume w.l.o.g. that $B_{8\epsilon}(x_0) \subset U$ and U is homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n .

By the assumptions on the diameter of X the ball $B_{4\epsilon}(x_0)$ is geodesically convex and geodesics in it are unique. Let $(Y, d_Y, m) = (\overline{B_{4\epsilon}(x_0)}, d, \mathcal{H}_n)$

In particular, Y again satisfies RCD(K, n) and is $CAT(\kappa)$.

Then by Lemma 3.1 there is $\delta = \delta(\epsilon, \kappa) > 0$ such that any unit speed geodesic $\gamma : [0, L] \to B_{4\epsilon}(x_0)$ we have that

(11) γ can be extended to a geodesic $\hat{\gamma} : [-\delta, L+\delta] \to B_{8\epsilon}(x_0)$ with $\hat{\gamma}|_{[0,L]} = \gamma$.

2. Now, let $y \in X$ and $B_{4\epsilon}(x_0)$ as before. By Lemma 2.59 there exists an \mathcal{H}^n -contracting gradient flow $\Phi_t^y : X \to X$ for the function $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y) \in D(\mathbf{\Delta})$ and if $x \in B_{2\epsilon}(x_0)$, then $t \mapsto \Phi_t^y(x)$ is precisely the geodesic $\gamma : [0, d(x, y)] \to X$ that connects x with y, appropriately parameterized.

From (11) it easily follows that $B_{\epsilon}(x_0) \subset \Phi_t^y(B_{3\epsilon}(x_0))$ for all sufficiently small t.

3. Since $(\Phi_t)_*\mathcal{H}^n(A) \geq \mathcal{H}^n(A)$ for any subset $A \subset \Phi_t(X)$, we obtain for any Lipschitz function g with compact support in $B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$

$$\int g(\Phi_t)_{\star} \mathcal{H}^n \geq \int g d\mathcal{H}^n.$$

Since $(\Phi_t(x))_{t\geq 0}$ is a gradient flow curve of $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)$ for any $x\in X$, we compute

$$\int g\mathbf{\Delta} \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_{y}) d\mathcal{H}^{n} = -\int \langle \nabla g, \nabla \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_{y}) \rangle d\mathcal{H}^{n}$$
$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left[\int g \circ \Phi_{t} d\mathcal{H}^{n} - \int g d\mathcal{H}^{n} \right]$$
$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left[\int g d(\Phi_{t})_{\star} \mathcal{H}^{n} - \int g d\mathcal{H}^{n} \right] \ge 0$$

for any $q \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\epsilon}(B_{\epsilon}(x_0))$. The second equality is the first variation formula. Note, that there is a version of the first variation formula in the class of *RCD*-spaces that is sufficient for our purposes (see Theorem 2.47), but the first variation formula is also well-known for metric spaces which satisfy a CAT-condition [BBI01][Chapter 4]. Hence $\Delta \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)|_{B_{\epsilon}(x_0)} \geq 0$ for any $y \in X$.

The proof for d_y is essentially the same as for $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)$ in view of Lemma 2.59 with the following difference. By Theorem 2.18 and the chain rule it follows that $d_y|_{X\setminus\{y\}} \in D(\Delta)$ and Δd_y is locally bounded above on $X \setminus \{y\}$. However, on a general RCD(k, n) space d_y need not lie in $D(\Delta)$. Nevertheless, under the assumptions of Theorem 3.2, the same proof as above shows that the distributional Laplacian of $d_y|_{B_{\epsilon}(x_0)}$ is nonnegative as a distribution and hence it is a measure and $d_y \in D(\mathbf{\Delta}).$

Corollary 3.4. Let (X, d, m), d_y , $x_0 \in X$ and $U \subset X$ be as in Theorem 3.2. Then there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that for any cutoff function $\chi \in \mathbb{D}^X_{\infty}$ with $\Delta \chi \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n)$, $\operatorname{supp} \chi \subset B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$ and $\chi|_{B_{\epsilon/2}(x_0)} = 1$ it holds that $\chi \cdot \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y) \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(X)$.

Further, if supp $\chi \subset B_{\epsilon}(x_0) \setminus \{y\}$ then we also have that $\chi \cdot d_y \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(X)$.

Proof. We choose $\epsilon > 0$ as in the previous theorem, and a corresponding cutoff function χ . Clearly it holds that $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(\chi \cdot d_{y}) \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^{n}) \cap \mathrm{Lip}(X)$. By Corollary 2.20 we also have $\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_{y}) \in D(\mathbf{\Delta})$.

Hence, the Leibniz rule for the measure valued Laplacian [Gig14, Theorem 4.12] yields

$$\Delta(\chi \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)) = \chi \Delta \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)|_{B_{\epsilon}(x_0)} + \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)\Delta\chi + 2\langle \nabla \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y), \nabla\chi \rangle$$

By Theorem 3.2 and again by Theorem 2.18 we know that $\Delta \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y) \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n)$. It follows that $\Delta(\chi \cdot \mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_{\eta})) \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^{n})$. Since $\chi \cdot \mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(d_{\eta})$ is compactly supported in $B_{\epsilon}(x_{0})$, we also get that $\chi \cdot \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y) \in D(\Delta)$ and therefore $\Delta(\chi \cdot \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)) = \Delta(\chi \cdot \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(d_y)).$

The proof for d_y is the same.

4. On the relation between convexity and the Hessian

In this section we explore the relation between convexity and almost everywhere lower bounds for the Hessian of a function f that is in a sufficiently regular subspace of $W^{2,2}(X)$. This relation has already been studied in previous publications [Ket15, GKKO17, Han17, GT17]. A novelty of our situation is that we give a localized statement that is needed in the course of the paper. Moreover, we will show that κ -convexity implies a lower κ -bound for the Hessian. By the second variation formula this lower bound holds if the Hessian is evaluated on gradients of Kantorovich potentials. However, we require the estimate for the Hessian evaluated on gradients of test functions.

Throughout this section let (X, d_X, m_X) be a compact metric measure space satisfying the condition RCD(K, N), and let Z be a closed subset of X such that $m_X(Int Z) > 0$, $m(\partial Z) = 0$ and (Z, d_Z, m_Z) is a metric measure space that also satisfies the condition RCD(K, N). We denote by Δ^X, Γ_2^X ect. and Δ^Z, Γ_2^Z ect. the Laplace operator, the Γ_2 -operator ect. of X and Z, respectively. In particular, (Z, d_Z) is geodesically convex and compact as well.

Let $f \in D(\Delta^X) \cap L^{\infty}(m_X) \cap \widetilde{\operatorname{Lip}}(X)$ with $\|f\|_{L^{\infty}}, \||\nabla f|\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C$ for $C \in (0, \infty)$. In particular, $f \in H^{2,2}(X)$. We introduce the transformed measures

(12)
$$\widetilde{m}_Z := \left[e^{-f} m_X \right] |_Z$$

and consider the metric measure space $(Z, d_Z, \tilde{m}_Z) = \tilde{Z}$. We remark that $f|_Z \in L^{\infty}(m_Z) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(Z)$ with $||f||_{L^{\infty}}, |||\nabla f|||_{L^{\infty}} \leq C$ but $f \notin D(\Delta^Z)$. We observe that, for $p \in [1, \infty]$,

$$e^{-C/p} \|u\|_{L^p(m_Z)} \le \|u\|_{L^p(\widetilde{m}_Z)} \le e^{C/p} \|u\|_{L^p(m_Z)}$$

for all $u \in L^p(m_Z) = L^p(\widetilde{m}_Z)$, and

$$e^{-C/p} \| |\nabla u| \|_{L^p(m_Z)} \le \| |\nabla u| \|_{L^p(\tilde{m}_Z)} \le e^{C/p} \| |\nabla u| \|_{L^p(m_Z)}$$

for all $u \in W^{1,2}(Z) = W^{1,2}(\widetilde{Z})$. In addition, the minimal weak upper gradient of $u \in W^{1,2}(\widetilde{Z})$ induced by \widetilde{m}_Z coincides with $|\nabla u|$ (see [AGS14a, Lemma 4.11]).

Lemma 4.1. Let f and $(Z, d_Z, \widetilde{m}_Z)$ be as above. Then we have $D(\widetilde{\Delta}^Z) = D(\Delta^Z)$ and, for any $u \in D(\widetilde{\Delta}^Z)$,

(i)
$$\widetilde{\Delta}^Z u = \Delta^Z u - \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle_{\mathcal{F}}$$

(ii)
$$\|\widetilde{\Delta}^{Z}u\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{m}_{Z})}^{2} \leq 2e^{C/2} \left(\|\Delta^{Z}u\|_{L^{2}(m_{Z})}^{2} + \||\nabla f|\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \||\nabla u|\|_{L^{2}(m_{Z})}^{2} \right),$$

(iii)
$$\|\Delta^{Z} u\|_{L^{2}(m_{Z})}^{2} \leq 2e^{C/2} \left(\|\widetilde{\Delta}^{Z} u\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{m}_{Z})}^{2} + \||\nabla f|\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \||\nabla u|\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{m}_{Z})}^{2} \right).$$

In particular, if $u \in D(\widetilde{\Delta}^Z)$, then $P_t^Z u \in D(\widetilde{\Delta}^Z)$ and $P_t^Z u \to u$ in $D(\widetilde{\Delta}^Z)$ as $t \to 0$.

Proof. The lemma can be found in [GKKO17, Lemma 3.4] where it is assumed that $f \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{Z}$. However, one can easily check that the proof works for $f \in L^{\infty}(m) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(Z)$.

Proposition 4.2. Let (X, d, m), (Z, d_Z, m_Z) , f and \widetilde{Z} be as above. Assume $f|_Z$ is κ -convex on $(Z, d_Z, m|_Z)$ for $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$. Then \widetilde{Z} satisfies the condition $RCD(K + \kappa, \infty)$, and for $u \in \mathbb{D}^Z_{\infty}$ with $\operatorname{supp} u \subset \operatorname{Int} Z$, $\varphi \in \operatorname{Lip}(Z)$, $\varphi \geq 0$ and $\widetilde{\varphi} := e^f \varphi$ we have $u \in \mathbb{D}^{\widetilde{Z}}_{\infty}$ and

(13)
$$\int_{Z} (\kappa + K) |\nabla u|^{2} \varphi dm \leq \int \widetilde{\varphi} d\Gamma_{2}^{\widetilde{Z}}(u) = \int \varphi d\Gamma_{2}^{Z}(u) + \int_{Z} \operatorname{Hess}^{X} f(\nabla u, \nabla u) \varphi dm.$$

Remark 4.3. The conditions RCD(K, N) and m(Z) > 0 for $(Z, d_Z, m|_Z)$ imply that (Z, d_Z) is a complete, compact, *geodesic* metric space. Therefore, it makes sense to consider functions f on Z that are κ -convex in the sense of Definition 2.2.

Proof. **1.** That \widetilde{Z} satisfies the condition $RCD(\kappa + K, \infty)$, follows from Fact 2.9 (iii), Lemma 2.10 and from the fact that \widetilde{Z} is again infinitesimally Hilbertian.

2. We show that $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{\widetilde{Z}}$. Since $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{Z}$, we have by definition that $u \in D_{W^{1,2}}(\Delta^{Z}) \cap$ Lip $(Z) \cap L^{\infty}(m_{Z})$. From Lemma 4.1 we know that $D(\Delta^{Z}) = D(\Delta^{\widetilde{Z}})$ and $\Delta^{\widetilde{Z}}u = \Delta^{Z}u - \langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle$. Since $u \in D_{W^{1,2}}(\Delta^{Z})$ we already know that $\Delta^{Z}u \in W^{1,2}(Z) = W^{1,2}(\widetilde{Z})$. Moreover, since supp $u \in$ Int Z, it easily follows that $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{X}$. Then, since $f \in W^{2,2}(X)$ and since u and f are Lipschitz, it follows by Proposition 2.45 that $\langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle \in W^{1,2}(X)$. Hence, $\langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle \in W^{1,2}(Z)$. Consequently, $\langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle \in W^{1,2}(\widetilde{Z})$ and therefore $\Delta^{\widetilde{Z}}u \in W^{1,2}(\widetilde{Z})$. Moreover, since $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{X}$ Hess $f(\nabla u, \nabla u) \in L^{2}(m_{X})$ is well-defined.

3. Since \widetilde{Z} satisfies the condition $RCD(\kappa + K, \infty)$, the improved Bochner inequality yields for $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{\widetilde{Z}}$

$$\Gamma_2^{\widetilde{Z}}(u) = \frac{1}{2} \mathbf{\Delta}^{\widetilde{Z}} |\nabla u|^2 - \langle \nabla u, \nabla \Delta u \rangle \left[e^{-f} m \right] |_Z \ge (\kappa + K) |\nabla u|^2 \left[e^{-f} m \right] |_Z.$$

Recall that $|\nabla u|^2 \in D(\Delta^{\widetilde{Z}})$ if $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{\widetilde{Z}}$. If we integrate $\widetilde{\varphi} = \varphi e^f \in \operatorname{Lip}(Z)$ w.r.t. the previous measures, the definition of the measure valued Laplacian yields for the left hand side

$$\begin{split} \int \widetilde{\varphi} d\mathbf{\Gamma}_{2}^{\widetilde{Z}}(u) &= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{Z} \varphi e^{f} d\mathbf{\Delta}^{\widetilde{Z}} |\nabla u|^{2} - \int_{Z} \langle \nabla u, \nabla \Delta^{\widetilde{Z}} u \rangle \varphi dm \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{Z} \langle \nabla |\nabla u|^{2}, \nabla \varphi e^{f} \rangle e^{-f} dm - \int_{Z} \langle \nabla u, \nabla \Delta^{\widetilde{Z}} u \rangle \varphi dm \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{Z} \langle \nabla |\nabla u|^{2}, \nabla \varphi \rangle dm - \frac{1}{2} \int_{Z} \langle \nabla |\nabla u|^{2}, \nabla f \rangle \varphi dm \\ &- \int_{Z} \langle \nabla u, \nabla \Delta^{Z} u \rangle \varphi dm + \int_{Z} \langle \nabla u, \nabla \langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle \rangle \varphi dm \\ &= \int \varphi d\mathbf{\Gamma}_{2}^{Z}(u) + \int_{Z} \operatorname{Hess}^{X} f(\nabla u, \nabla u) \varphi dm. \end{split}$$

For the last equality also recall that for every $g \in W^{1,2}(X)$ we have $g \in W^{1,2}(Z) = W^{1,2}(\widetilde{Z})$ and $|\nabla^Z g| = |\nabla^{\widetilde{Z}} g| = |\nabla^X g||_Z$. This completes the proof of the proposition.

Let us first recall the following lemma from [AMS16, Lemma 6.7].

Lemma 4.4. Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space satisfying a RCD-condition. Then for all $E \subset X$ compact and all $G \subset X$ open such that $E \subset G$ there exists a Lipschitz function $\chi : X \to [0, 1]$ with

- (i) $\chi = 1$ on $E_h = \{x \in X : \exists y \in E : d(x, y) < h\}$ and $\operatorname{supp} \chi \subset G$,
- (ii) $\Delta \chi \in L^{\infty}(m)$ and $|\nabla \chi|^2 \in W^{1,2}(X)$.

Remark 4.5. Following the proof of this Lemma in [AMS16] we see that one can choose χ to be in \mathbb{D}^X_{∞} .

Corollary 4.6. Let X, Z and f be as in Proposition 4.2. Then

Hess
$$f(1_Z \nabla u, 1_Z \nabla u) = 1_Z$$
 Hess^X $f(\nabla u, \nabla u) \ge \left[\kappa |\nabla u|^2\right] 1_Z$ *m-a.e*

for every $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^X$.

Proof. **1.** Let $\alpha > 0$ and define $f/\alpha = f_{\alpha}$. Then f_{α} is $\frac{\kappa}{\alpha}$ -convex. Let $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{X}$ and choose a cut-off function $\chi \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{X}$ such that $\chi = 1$ on $A \subset \text{Int } Z$ for a closed set A and $\text{supp } u \subset \text{Int } Z$. Then $\chi \cdot u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^{Z}$ with $\text{supp } \chi \cdot u \subset \text{Int } Z$. Therefore by Proposition 4.2

(14)
$$\int_{Z} (\kappa/\alpha + K) |\nabla(\chi \cdot u)|^{2} \varphi dm \leq \int \varphi d\Gamma_{2}^{Z}(\chi \cdot u) + \int_{Z} \operatorname{Hess}^{X} (f/\alpha) (\nabla(\chi \cdot u), \nabla(\chi \cdot u)) \varphi dm.$$

Hence, multiplying with $\alpha > 0$ and letting $\alpha \to 0$ this yields

$$\kappa \int |\nabla(\chi \cdot u)|^2 \varphi dm \le \int_Z \operatorname{Hess}^X f(\nabla(\chi \cdot u), \nabla(\chi \cdot u)) \varphi dm$$

for every nonnegative $\varphi \in \operatorname{Lip}(X)$. By standard approximation the same holds for any nonnegative $\varphi \in C_b(Z)$.

2. We choose a sequence of nonnegative $\varphi_k \in C_b(X)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, compactly supported in Int Z such that $\varphi_k \uparrow 1$ pointwise *m*-a.e. . Moreover, we choose cut-off functions χ_k as in **1**. with $A = \operatorname{supp} \varphi_k$. Then

$$\kappa \int |\nabla u|^2 \varphi_k dm \le \int \operatorname{Hess}^X f(\nabla u, \nabla u) \varphi_k dm$$

for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $u \in \mathbb{D}_{\infty}^X$. Since $m(\partial Z) = 0$, letting $k \to \infty$ yields the claim.

Theorem 4.7. Let (X, d, m) be a compact metric measure space that satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and N > 0, and $Z \subset X$ be a closed subset such that $m(\operatorname{Int} Z) > 0$, $m(\partial Z) = 0$ 0 and $(Z, d_Z, m|_Z)$ satisfies the condition RCD(K, N) as well. Let $f \in D_{L^2}(\Delta) \cap Lip(X) \cap L^{\infty}$. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$.

Then the following statements are equivalent

- (i) f is κ -convex on (Z, d_Z) ,
- (ii) $\operatorname{Hess}^X f(1_Z \nabla u, \nabla u) \ge \kappa |\nabla u|^2 1_Z$ m-a.e. for $u \in \mathbb{D}^X_{\infty}$.

Proof. The implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) is precisely the content of the previous corollary.

For (ii) \Rightarrow (i) assume $\operatorname{Hess}^X f(\nabla u, \nabla u) \ge \kappa |\nabla u|^2$ *m*-a.e. on *Z* for any $u \in W^{1,2}(X)$. Then the second variation formula in Theorem 2.47 implies that $t \in [0, 1] \mapsto \mathcal{F}(\mu_t) = \int f d\mu_t$ is in $C^2([0, 1])$ for a L²-Wasserstein geodesic $(\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ with $\mu_t \leq Cm$ for some constant C > 0, and

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2}\mathcal{F}(\mu_t) = \int \operatorname{Hess}^X(\nabla\varphi_t, \nabla\varphi_t) d\mu_t \ge \kappa \int |\nabla\varphi_t|^2 d\mu_t = \kappa W_2(\mu_0, \mu_1)^2.$$

Hence, $t \in [0,1] \mapsto \mathcal{F}(\mu_t)$ is κ -convex, and we obtain that

(15)
$$\mathcal{F}(\mu_t) \le (1-t)\mathcal{F}(\mu_0) + t\mathcal{F}(\mu_1) - \frac{1}{2}K(1-t)tW_2(\mu_0,\mu_1)^2$$

Now, we know that for every point $x_0 \in X$ and *m*-a.e. point $x_1 \in X$ there exists a unique geodesic γ (Corollary 1.4 in [GRS16]). We pick two such points in Y, and sequences of m-absolutely continuous probability measures $(\mu_0^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ and $(\mu_1^k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ (for instance $\mu_i^k = m(B_{1/k}(x_i))^{-1}m|_{B_{1/k}(x_i)}$) such that $\mu_i^k \to \delta_{x_i}$ weakly for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Assume moreover that μ_i^k , i = 0, 1, satisfies $\mu_i^k \leq C(k)m$. Then the Wasserstein geodesic $(\mu_t^k)_{t \in [0,1]}$ between μ_0^k and μ_1^k satisfies $\mu_t^k \leq \widetilde{C}(k, C(k), K, N)m$ by [Raj12a]. Hence, (15) holds for $(\mu_t^k)_{t \in [0,1]}$. We can extract a subsequence such that $(\mu_t^k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges for $t \in [0,1] \cap \mathbb{Q}$ to ν_t for a geodesic $(\nu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ between δ_{x_0} and δ_{x_1} . Since x_0 and x_1 are chosen such that there is only one geodesic γ in X between them, we must have $\nu_t = \delta_{\gamma(t)}$. Moreover, since f is continuous, by weak convergence of μ_t^k , $\mathcal{F}(\mu_t^k) \to f(\gamma(t))$ for every $t \in [0,1] \cap \mathbb{Q}$. Hence, $\forall t \in [0,1] \cap \mathbb{Q}$, we have

(16)
$$f(\gamma_t) \le (1-t)f(\gamma_0) + tf(\gamma_1) - \frac{1}{2}K(1-t)td^2(\gamma_0,\gamma_1)$$

and by continuity this holds for every $t \in [0, 1]$. Now, one can easily see that this implies (i) for $f: Z \to \mathbb{R}$ in the weak sense. That is for any pair of points $x_0, x_1 \in Z$ we can find a geodesic γ such that the inequality holds. Indeed, if x_0 and x_1 are arbitrary, we can find a point \widetilde{x}_1^k such that $d(x_1, \tilde{x}_1^k) \to 0$ if $k \to \infty$ and such that the geodesic $\tilde{\gamma}^k = [x_0, \tilde{x}_k]$ is unique. Then (16) holds for $\tilde{\gamma}^k$. Since X is locally compact, by passing to a subsequence we can assume that $[x_0, \tilde{x}_k] \to [x_0, x_1]$. Since f and d are continuous by passing to the limit we obtain that (16) holds for $[x_0, x_1]$ as well.

Finally, we recall the following theorem by Sturm.

Theorem 4.8 ([Stu14]). Let (X, d, m) be a metric measure space that is locally compact and satisfies the condition RCD(K,N) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (0,\infty]$. Let $V: X \to (-\infty,\infty]$ be a function that is continuous and satisfies $V(x) \ge -C_2 - C_1 d(x_0, x)^2$ for constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ and $x_0 \in X$. Let $\kappa \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the following properties are equivalent:

- (i) V is weakly κ -convex,
- (ii) V is κ -convex,
- (iii) For any $x_0 \in X'$ there exists a curve $(x_t)_{t>0}$ in X' such that for all $z \in X'$ and every t > 0we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}d(x_t, z)^2 + \frac{\kappa}{2}d(x_t, z)^2 \le V(z) - V(x_t).$$

where X' is the closure of Dom V in X. We say $(x_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is an EVI_{κ} gradient flow curve. This finishes the proof.

Remark 4.9. An EVI_{κ} gradient flow curve $(x_t)_{t>0}$ of V comes with the parametrization such that

$$\frac{d}{dt}V(x_t) = -|\nabla^- V|^2(x_t) = -|\dot{x}_t|^2,$$

where $|\nabla^{-}V|(x) = \limsup_{y \to x} \frac{(V(y) - V(x))^{-}}{d(x,y)}$ is the descending slope of V that is general different from the minimal weak upper gradient that was defined before. Hence, an EVI_{κ} gradient flow is actually an inverse gradient flow in the standard sense.

5. RCD+CAT IMPLIES ALEXANDROV

The goal of this section is to prove the following Theorem which implies Theorem 1.1 by globalization under the extra assumption that X is infinitesimally Hilbertian. In section 6 we will show that the infinitesimal hilbertianness assumption can be dropped which will finish the proof of Theorem 1.1 in full generality.

Theorem 5.1. Let $2 \le n \in \mathbb{N}$ and (X, d, m) be a metric measure space satisfying RCD(K, n) for $K \in \mathbb{R}$ with $m = \mathcal{H}^n$, and assume (X, d) is also $CAT(\kappa)$. Then

- (1) $\kappa(n-1) \geq K$ and (X, d) is an Alexandrov space of curvature bounded below by $K \kappa(n-2)$.
- (2) If $\kappa(n-1) = K$, then (X,d) is isometric to a geodesically convex subset of the simply connected space form \mathbb{S}_{κ}^{n} of constant curvature κ .

In the proof of Theorem 5.1 we will need the following elementary lemma

Lemma 5.2. Let $\kappa, K \in \mathbb{R}, n \ge 2$. Let $\hat{\kappa} < K - (n-2)\kappa$. There is $\nu = \nu(n, K, \kappa, \hat{\kappa}) > 0$ such that (17) $(n-1) \cot_{K/(n-1)}(t) - (n-2) \cot_{\kappa}(t) < \cot_{\hat{\kappa}}(t)$ for all $0 < t < \nu$.

Proof. For any real k we have the following Taylor expansions at 0

$$\sin_k(t) = t - \frac{kt^3}{6} + \dots, \quad \cos_k(t) = 1 - \frac{kt^2}{2} + \dots$$

Hence

$$\cot_k(t) = \frac{1 - \frac{kt^2}{2} + \dots}{t - \frac{kt^3}{6} + \dots} = \frac{1}{t} (1 - \frac{kt^2}{2} + \dots)(1 + \frac{kt^2}{6} + \dots) = \frac{1}{t} - \frac{kt}{3} + \dots$$

Applying this to both sides of (17) yields the Lemma.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. We will prove the theorem via induction w.r.t. $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

1. Let $n \ge 2$ and suppose Theorem 5.1 is true for n-1 if n > 2. Let (X, d, \mathcal{H}_n) be RCD(K, n) and $CAT(\kappa)$. The base of induction n = 2 will be handled in the same way as the general induction step with one small difference which we'll explicitly indicate.

Following Gigli and Philippis [DPG17] for any $x \in X$ we consider the monotone quantity $\frac{m(B_r(x))}{v_{k,n}(r)}$ which is non increasing in r by the Bishop-Gromov volume comparison. Let $\theta_{n,r}(x) = \frac{m(B_r(x))}{v_{k,n}(r)}$. Consider the density function $\theta_n(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \theta_{n,r}(x) = \lim_{r \to 0} \frac{m(B_r(x))}{\omega_n r^n}$.

Since n is fixed throughout the proof we will drop the subscripts n and from now on use the notations $\theta(x)$ and $\theta_r(x)$ for $\theta_n(x)$ and $\theta_{n,r}(x)$ respectively.

Note that $\theta(x) = 1$ a.e. by [DPG17] but it still makes sense and is well defined pointwise. Also, by [DPG17] θ is lower semicontinuous and hence $0 < \theta(x) \le 1$ for any $x \in X$.

Let $x \in X$ be arbitrary. Let $(T_x X, d_x, m_x, o) = \lim_{r_i \to 0} (X, \frac{1}{r_i}d, \frac{1}{r_i^n}m, x)$ be a tangent cone at x. Note that under this normalization along the sequence the unit balls around x do not have measure 1 but the measure $\frac{1}{r_i^n}m$ is equal to \mathcal{H}_n with respect to the rescaled metric $\frac{1}{r_i}d$. Obviously, $T_x X$ is CAT(0) and RCD(0, n). By [DPG17] it is also noncollapsed i.e. $m_x = \mathcal{H}_n$. Therefore, by the definition of θ we have that $\theta(x) = \frac{\mathcal{H}_n(B(o,1))}{\omega_n}$ where o is the apex of $T_x X$. Note that this is true even if the tangent cone $(T_x X, d_x, m_x, o)$ is not unique.

CD MEETS CAT

Further, $(T_x X, d_x, m_x, o)$ is a volume metric cone by [DPG17, Proposition 2.7]. Therefore, by the volume-cone-implies-metric-cone theorem in [DPG16], $T_x X = C(\Sigma)$ where $(\Sigma, d_{\Sigma}, m_{\Sigma})$ is both CAT(1) and RCD(n-2, n-1) and $m_{\Sigma} = \mathcal{H}_{n-1}$.

Claim: Σ is isometric to \mathbb{S}^{n-1} or to a convex subset of \mathbb{S}^{n-1} with nonempty interior and nonempty boundary.

Indeed, if n = 2 then $(\Sigma, d_{\Sigma}, m_{\Sigma})$ is a noncollapsed compact RCD(0, 1) space which is also CAT(1). Hence by [KL16] it's isometric to either a circle \mathbb{S}^1_R of some radius R > 0 or to a closed interval I.

Suppose $\Sigma \cong \mathbb{S}_R^1$. Since Σ is CAT(1) we have that $R \ge 1$. On the other hand, since $C(\Sigma)$ is RCD(0,2) we must have $R \le 1$. Hence R = 1 and $\Sigma \cong \mathbb{S}^1$.

If $\Sigma = I$ then length of I is at most π since otherwise $C(\Sigma)$ is not RCD(0,2) by the splitting theorem.

If n > 2 then the Claim follows by the induction assumption. This is the only place in the proof of the induction step where the induction assumption is used and where the induction step differs from the proof of the base of induction n = 2.

Since a proper convex subset of S^{n-1} is contained in a hemisphere the above Claim implies that we have the following gap phenomena:

A point
$$x \in X$$
 is either regular, in which case $\theta(x) = 1$,

or
$$x \in X$$
 is singular, in which case $\theta(x) \leq \frac{1}{2}$ and $\partial \Sigma \neq \emptyset$

Next we prove the following lemma.

(18)

Lemma 5.3. The set of regular points X_{reg} is open and convex in X.

Since θ is lower semicontinuous, property (18) immediately implies that X_{reg} is open. It remains to verify that it is convex.

Let $f_r(x) = \theta_r(x)^{1/n}$ and $f(x) = \theta(x)^{1/n}$

Lemma 5.4. f(x) is semiconcave on X.

Proof. To prove semiconcavity we need to verify that there is a constant C such that every point in X has a neighborhood U such that for any constant speed geodesic $\gamma: [0,1] \to U$ and any $0 \le t \le 1$ it holds that

(19)
$$f(\gamma(t)) \ge (1-t)f(0) + tf(1) - \frac{C}{2}t(1-t)d(\gamma(0),\gamma(1))^2$$

To simplify the exposition we will only treat the case t = 1/2, i.e. we will verify that

(20)
$$f(\gamma(1/2)) \ge \frac{1}{2}f(0) + \frac{1}{2}f(1) - \frac{C}{8}d(\gamma(0), \gamma(1))^2$$

The proof below easily adapts to the case of general t.

Let $x = \gamma(0), y = \gamma(1), z = \gamma(1/2)$ and l = d(x, y).

By rescaling we can assume that X is CAT(1) and RCD(-n, n).

We will need the following general lemma.

Lemma 5.5. Let X be a $CAT(\kappa)$ space. Let $\gamma_1, \gamma_2: [0,1] \to X$ be constant speed geodesics with length of γ_1 equal to $l < \pi_{\kappa}/100$ and suppose $d(\gamma_1(0), \gamma_2(0)) \leq \delta, d(\gamma_1(1), \gamma_2(1)) \leq \delta$ with $\delta < l/100$. Then $d(\gamma_1(1/2), \gamma_2(1/2)) \leq \delta(1 + C(\kappa)l^2)$ for some universal $C(\kappa) \geq 0$.

Proof. It's well known that when $\kappa \leq 0$ one can take $C(\kappa) = 0$ since in this case $t \mapsto d(\gamma_1(t), \gamma_2(t))$ is convex. We will therefore restrict our attention to the case $\kappa > 0$. By rescaling we can assume that $\kappa = 1$. Let X be CAT(1).

Fix a point \bar{p} in the unit round sphere \mathbb{S}^2 . Let $0 \leq t \leq 1$. Consider the "t-homothety" map $\varphi_t^{\bar{p}} \colon B_{\pi/100}(\bar{p}) \to B_{\pi/100}(\bar{p})$ sending any point x to the point y on the unique geodesic connecting \bar{p} to x with $d(\bar{p}, y) = td(\bar{p}, x)$. A direct Jacobi field computation shows that the Lipschitz constant of $\varphi_t^{\bar{p}}$ at x with $|\bar{p}x| = l$ is $\frac{\sin(tl)}{\sin(l)} = \sigma_{1,1}^t(l)$.

Taylor expanding in l we get:

$$\sigma_{1,1}^t(l) = \frac{\sin(tl)}{\sin(l)} = \frac{tl - (tl)^3/6 + \dots}{l - (l)^3/6 + \dots} = t(1 - t^2l^2/6 + \dots)(1 + l^2/6 + \dots) = t(1 + l^2(1 - t^2)/6 + \dots) \le t(1 + l^2/3) \text{ if } l < \pi/100$$

which immediately gives that if $d(x,y) < d(\bar{p},x)/10$ then $d(\varphi_t^{\bar{p}}(x),\varphi_t^{\bar{p}}(y)) \leq t(1+d(\bar{p},x)^2)d(x,y)$. The definition of a CAT(1) space immediately gives that the same inequality holds for a similarly defined map φ_t^p for any $p \in X$.

$$(21) \qquad d(\varphi_t^p(x),\varphi_t^p(y)) \leq t(1+d(p,x)^2)d(x,y) \text{ if } d(p,x) < \pi/100, \ d(x,y) < d(p,x)/100.$$

Let γ_1, γ_2 be as in the lemma. Let $x = \gamma_1(1/2) = \varphi_{1/2}^{\gamma_1(0)}(\gamma_1(1)) = \varphi_{1/2}^{\gamma_1(1)}(\gamma_1(0)), \ y = \gamma_2(1/2) = \varphi_{1/2}^{\gamma_2(0)}(\gamma_2(1)) = \varphi_{1/2}^{\gamma_2(1)}(\gamma_2(0))$. Let z be the midpoint between $\gamma_1(0)$ and $\gamma_2(1)$. Then by (21) we have that $d(z, x) \leq \frac{1}{2}(1+l^2)d(\gamma_1(1), \gamma_2(1)) \leq \frac{\delta}{2}(1+2l^2)$ and $d(z, y) \leq \frac{1}{2}(1+l^2)d(\gamma_1(1), \gamma_2(1)) \leq \frac{\delta}{2}(1+2l^2)$.

 $(l+\delta)^2)d(\gamma_1(0),\gamma_2(0)) \le \frac{\delta}{2}(1+2l^2).$

By the triangle inequality this gives that $d(x,y) \le d(x,z) + d(z,y) \le \frac{\delta}{2}(1+2l^2) + \frac{\delta}{2}(1+2l^2) = \frac{\delta}{2}(1+2l^2)$ $\delta(1+2l^2)$ which finishes the proof of Lemma 5.5 with C(1) = 2.

We are now ready to continue with the proof of Lemma 5.4.

Let A be the Minkowski sum $\frac{1}{2}B_r(x) + \frac{1}{2}B_r(y)$. By the Brunn-Minkowski inequality [CM15] we have that 1 /9 1 /0

$$m(A)^{1/n} \ge \sigma_{-n,n}^{1/2} (l+2r) m(B_r(x))^{1/n} + \sigma_{-n,n}^{1/2} (l+2r) m(B_r(y))^{1/n} = \frac{\sinh \frac{l+2r}{2}}{\sinh(l+2r)} m(B_r(x))^{1/n} + \frac{\sinh \frac{l+2r}{2}}{\sinh(l+2r)} m(B_r(y))^{1/n} = \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{l+2r}{2}} m(B_r(x))^{1/n} + \frac{1}{2\cosh\frac{l+2r}{2}} m(B_r(y))^{1/n}$$

Thus

(22)
$$(1+c_1l^2)m(A)^{1/n} \ge \cosh\frac{l+2r}{2}m(A)^{1/n} \ge \frac{1}{2}m(B_r(x))^{1/n} + \frac{1}{2}m(B_r(y))^{1/n}$$

where the first inequality holds when l < 1/100 and $r \ll l$.

By Lemma 5.5 we have that $A \subset B_{r(1+c_2l^2)}(z)$. Therefore

$$(1+c_1l^2)m(B_{r(1+c_2l^2)}(z))^{1/n} \ge \frac{1}{2}m(B_r(x))^{1/n} + \frac{1}{2}m(B_r(y))^{1/n}$$

Dividing by $\omega_n^{1/n} r$ this gives

$$(1+c_1l^2)(1+c_2l^2)\frac{m(B_{r(1+c_2l^2)}(z))^{1/n}}{\omega_n^{1/n}r(1+c_2l^2)} \ge \frac{1}{2r\omega_n^{1/n}}m(B_r(x))^{1/n} + \frac{1}{2r\omega_n^{1/n}}m(B_r(y))^{1/n}$$

or

$$(1+c_3l^2)f_{r(1+c_2l^2)}(z) \ge \frac{1}{2}f_r(x) + \frac{1}{2}f_r(y)$$

Taking the limit as $r \to 0$ this gives

$$(1+c_3l^2)f(z) \ge \frac{1}{2}f(x) + \frac{1}{2}f(y)$$

Taking into the account that $0 \le f(z) \le 1$ this gives

$$f(z) \ge \frac{1}{2}f(x) + \frac{1}{2}f(y) - c_3l^2$$

which finishes the proof of (20) and hence of Lemma 5.4.

Since a bounded semiconcave function on a closed interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ is continuous on the interior of I, the openness of X_{reg} together with the gap property (18) immediately imply that f must be equal to 1 along any geodesic with endpoints in X_{reg} . Again using (18) we conclude that X_{reg} is convex.

This finishes the proof of Lemma 5.3.

2.

Claim: X_{reg} is a topological n-manifold.

Proof. By Lemma 5.3 X_{reg} is open. Therefore it is an *n*-manifold by Reifenberg's principle [CC97, Theorem A.1.1].

3.

Fix an arbitrary $\hat{\kappa} < K - (n-2)\kappa$ and let $\nu = \nu(n, K, \kappa, \hat{\kappa})$ be provided by the Lemma 5.2.

We pick $x_0 \in X_{reg}$ and a positive $\epsilon < \min\{\nu/2, \pi_{\kappa}/2\}$ such that $\overline{B}_{\epsilon}(x_0) =: Y$ is contained in X_{reg} .

Then Y is geodesically convex, uniquely geodesic, $(Y, d_Y, m|_Y)$ satisfies RCD(K, n) and (Y, d_Y) is $CAT(\kappa)$.

Let $y \in B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$ and consider $\underline{d}_y : Y \to [0, \infty)$. We pick any point $z \in B_{\epsilon}(x_0) \setminus \{y\}$ and $0 < \delta < \min(\frac{\epsilon - d(x_0, z)}{2}, \frac{d(z, y)}{2})$. Then $\overline{B_{\delta}(z)}$ is convex, it is contained in $B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$ and $y \notin \overline{B_{\delta}(z)}$. We also can pick a cutoff function $\chi \in \mathbb{D}^Y_{\infty}$ (see Lemma 4.4) that $\Delta \chi \in L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n)$, supp $\chi \subset B_{\delta}(z)$ and $\chi|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} = 1$.

Then, by Corollary 3.4 $\chi \cdot d_y \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(X)$ and therefore $\chi \cdot d_y \in H^{2,2}(X)$ by Remark 2.44.

In particular, $\chi \cdot d_y$ induces an element $\nabla(\chi \cdot d_y) =: u \in L^2(TY)$ such that $|u| = 1 \neq 0$ *m*-a.e. on $B_{\delta/2}(z)$. We consider the submodule $\mathcal{N} \subset L^2(TY)$ that is generated by u. The orthogonal submodule is defined as

$$\mathcal{N}^{\perp} = \left\{ v \in L^2(TY) : \langle v, u \rangle = 0 \text{ } m\text{-a.e.} \right\}.$$

It is not hard to check that \mathcal{N}^{\perp} is an L^{∞} -premodule in the sense of Definition 1.2.1 in [Gig14]. \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}^{\perp} are Hilbert spaces and hence L^2 -normed L^{∞} -modules (compare with Proposition 1.2.21 in [Gig14]). Moreover \mathcal{N}^{\perp} is the orthogonal complement of \mathcal{N} in the sense of Hilbert spaces, and $\mathcal{N} \oplus \mathcal{N}^{\perp} = L^2(TY)$.

According to Proposition 2.27 \mathcal{N}^{\perp} yields a partition $\{B_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ of Y such that the local dimension (in the sense of Definition 2.24) of $\mathcal{N}^{\perp}|_{B_k}$ is $k\in\mathbb{N}$. Note that $m(B_{\infty})=0$ since the local dimension of $L^2(TY)$ is finite on X, and therefore \mathcal{N}^{\perp} is finitely generated m-a.e. as well. Hence, if $k\in\mathbb{N}$ such that $m(B_k) > 0$, any subset B of B_k with finite measure admits a unit orthogonal module basis v_1, \ldots, v_k , and for any $v \in \mathcal{N}^{\perp}$ we have that $v1_B$ is the L^2 -limit of finite L^{∞} -linear combinations in \mathcal{N}^{\perp} of the form

$$w = \sum_{j=1}^{k} f_j v_j$$
 for $f_j \in L^{\infty}(m), \ j = 1, \dots, k.$

At the same time we have that any $w \in L^2(TY)$ can be written as a sum $\alpha u + \beta v$ with $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $v \in \mathcal{N}^{\perp}$. Hence u, v_1, \ldots, v_k generates $L^2(TY)|_B = (\mathcal{N} \oplus \mathcal{N}^{\perp})|_B$ in the sense of modules. Moreover, since \mathcal{N} and \mathcal{N}^{\perp} are orthogonal w.r.t. the pointwise inner product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and since |u| = 1m-a.e. on $B_{\delta/2}(z)$, it is easy to check that u, v_1, \ldots, v_k are linearly independent on $B_{\delta/2}(z) \cap B$ (again in the sense of Definition 2.24), and hence form a module basis of $L^2(TY)$ on $B_{\delta/2}(z) \cap B$. Since the local dimension of $L^2(TY)$ is n this implies k = n - 1 whenever $B_{\delta/2}(z) \cap B \neq \emptyset$, and $u =: E_1, v_2 =: E_2, \ldots, v_{n-1} =: E_n$ is a unit orthogonal basis of $L^2(TY)$ on $B_{\delta/2}(z) \cap B$. In particular, for the decomposition $\{B_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ we have $m(B_k) = 0$ if $k \neq n - 1$, and we can choose B as the ball $B_{\delta/2}(z)$ itself.

25

4. Again from Corollary 3.4 and we have that $\operatorname{md}_{K/(n-1)}(\chi \cdot d_y) \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n) \cap$ Lip(X). Then the precise estimate in the Laplace operator comparison statement (Theorem 2.18) for $\operatorname{md}_{K/(n-1)} d_y$ on Y yields

$$\Delta(\mathrm{md}_{K/(n-1)}(\chi \cdot d_y))|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} = \Delta \,\mathrm{md}_{K/(n-1)}(d_y)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} \le \frac{Kn}{n-1} \,\mathrm{md}_{K/(n-1)}(d_y)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} \,\,m\text{-a.e.}$$

where we used the locality property of Δ . Applying the chain rule for the Laplacian yields

(23)
$$\Delta(\chi \cdot d_y)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} \le (n-1) \cot_{K/(n-1)}(d_y)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)}.$$

On the other hand the condition $CAT(\kappa)$ on Y implies the following. First, by continuity reasons for any $\vartheta > 0$ there exists $\eta > 0$ as above such that for any η -ball $|\operatorname{md}_{\kappa} d_y(x) - \operatorname{md}_{\kappa} d_y(z)| \leq \vartheta$ for $x \in B_{\eta}(z)$. Therefore, if we choose $\delta/2 \leq \eta$

$$(\mathrm{md}_{\kappa}(\chi d_y) \circ \gamma)'' \geq 1 - \mathrm{md}_{\kappa} d(z, y) - \vartheta =: \lambda(\kappa, \vartheta, z) \text{ for any unit speed geodesic } \gamma \text{ in } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Hence, $\operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(\chi d_y)$ is $\lambda(\kappa, \vartheta, z)$ -convex on $B_{\delta/2}(z)$. Now, since $\operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(\chi d_y) \in D_{L^{\infty}}(\Delta) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathcal{H}^n) \cap \operatorname{Lip}(X)$ - and again in particular $\operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(\chi \cdot d_z) \in H^{2,2}(X)$ - , we can apply Theorem 4.7 where $f = \operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(\chi d_y), X = Y$ and $Z = B_{\delta/2}(z)$. We obtain for $V \in L^2(TY)$

(24)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(\operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(\chi d_{y}))(V,V) \geq \lambda(\kappa,\vartheta,z)|V|^{2} \geq (1 - \operatorname{md}_{\kappa} d_{y} - 2\vartheta)|V|^{2} \text{ m-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Now, we also can cover $B_{\delta/2}(z)$ with η -balls as above. Since any of these balls is geodesically convex by Remark 2.54 and our choice of $\vartheta > 0$, the estimate (24) holds with $\delta/2$ replaced by η . Hence, the estimate holds *m*-a.e. on $B_{\delta/2}(z)$ with arbitrary small $\vartheta > 0$, so we actually have

(25)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(\operatorname{md}_{\kappa}(\chi d_y))(V, V) + \operatorname{md}_{\kappa} d_y |V|^2 \ge |V|^2 \text{ }m\text{-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Applying another time the chain rule for the Hessian (Proposition 2.42) in particular yields (26)

 $\operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(\nabla \chi d_y, \nabla \chi d_y)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} = 0 \quad \& \quad \operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(E_i, E_i)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} \ge \operatorname{cot}_{\kappa} d_y|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} \text{ for } i = 2, \ldots, n$ where the first identity follows – for instance – from the claim below, and the second one follows from (25) after applying the chain rule for the Hessian.

Then, since $\chi \cdot d_y \in D(\Delta)$, Corollary 2.50 and the fact that we have the unit orthogonal module basis $(E_i)_{i=1,\dots,n}$ from **3.** together with (23) and (26) immediately gives us

$$(n-1)\cot_{K/(n-1)}d_y \ge \Delta(\chi \cdot d_y) = \sum_{i=2}^n \operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(E_i, E_i) \ge (n-1)\cot_{\kappa}d_y \text{ m-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Since $k \mapsto \cot_k$ is monotone decreasing this implies that $\kappa(n-1) \ge K$ and

(27)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(E_i, E_i) \le (n-1) \operatorname{cot}_{K/(n-1)} d_y - (n-2) \operatorname{cot}_{\kappa} d_y \text{ m-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Therefore, by Lemma 5.2

(28)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(E_i, E_i) \leq \operatorname{cot}_{\hat{\kappa}} d_y \text{ on } B_{\delta/2}(z) \text{ for } i = 2, \dots, n.$$

5. Claim: Let $h, \varphi_k \in H^{2,2}(X)$ with $|\nabla h| = 1$ m-a.e. on $B_{\delta/2}(z)$, and $V = \sum_{k=1}^m f_k \nabla \varphi_k$, then Hess $h(\nabla h, V)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} = 0$ m-a.e..

Proof of the claim. Since $h, \varphi_k \in H^{2,2}(X), k = 1, ..., m$, using Proposition 2.45 we can compute $2 \operatorname{Hess} h(\nabla h, V) = 2 \sum_{k=1}^{m} f_k \operatorname{Hess} h(\nabla h, \nabla \varphi_k)$ $= \sum_{k=1}^{m} f_k \left(\langle h, \nabla \langle \nabla \varphi_k, \nabla h \rangle + \langle \nabla \varphi_k, \nabla | \nabla h |^2 \rangle - \langle h, \nabla \langle \nabla h, \nabla \varphi_k \rangle \right) = \langle V, \nabla | \nabla h |^2 \rangle m$ -a.e. .

By locality of $|\nabla \cdot|$ this yields $2 \operatorname{Hess} h(\nabla h, V)|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} = \langle X, \nabla 1 \rangle|_{B_{\delta/2}(z)} = 0$ *m*-a.e.

The claim in particular applies for $\chi \cdot d_y = h$ and $V = \sum_{i=1}^l f_i \nabla \varphi_k$ with $f_k \in L^{\infty}(m)$ and

 $\varphi_k \in \mathbb{D}^Y_{\infty}$. Now any E_i , i = 1, ..., n can be approximated by vector fields of this form. Therefore, by $L^2(TY) - L^0$ -continuity of the Hessian

(29)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(\nabla(\chi d_y), E_i) = \operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(E_1, E_i) = 0 \text{ } m\text{-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Claim: Let $V \in \mathcal{N}^{\perp}$ be arbitrary. Then

(30)
$$\operatorname{Hess}(\chi d_y)(V, V) \le \operatorname{cot}_{\hat{\kappa}} d_y |V|^2 \text{ m-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z).$$

Proof of the claim. Let E_2, \ldots, E_n be the unit orthogonal basis of \mathcal{N}^{\perp} on $B_{\delta/2}(z) =: B$ as in **3**. By definition of a module basis and Remark 2.25, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we find functions $f_i^k \in L^{\infty}$, $i = 2, \ldots, n$, such that

$$||V - V^k||_{L^2(TY)|_B} < \frac{1}{k}$$
 where $V^k \in L^2(TY)|_B$ such that $V^k = \sum_{i=2}^n f_i^k E_i$.

We can approximate every f_i^k in $L^2(\mathcal{H}^n)$ by step functions that take only finitely many values. Therefore, it is sufficient to assume that $f_i^k = \alpha_i^k \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, since *B* has finite \mathcal{H}^n -measure we can assume that $|\alpha_i^k| \in [\frac{1}{nk}, \frac{k}{n}]$. Hence, it follows that $|V^k| \in [\frac{1}{k}, k]$ for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We can define $W^k = |V^k|^{-1}V^k \in L^2(TY)|_B$. Then W^k satisfies $|W^k| = 1 \mathcal{H}^n$ -a.e. on *B*. Now,

We can define $W^k = |V^k|^{-1}V^k \in L^2(TY)|_B$. Then W^k satisfies $|W^k| = 1 \mathcal{H}^n$ -a.e. on B. Now, we can choose the unit orthogonal basis E_1, \ldots, E_n of $L^2(TY)$ on $B_{\delta/2}(z)$ such that $E_2 = W^k$. This is achieved in the same way as we were able to choose $E_1 = \nabla(\chi \cdot d_y)$ in step **3.** since $|W^k| = 1$ \mathcal{H}^k -a.e. . Hence, we obtain (30) first for W^k and by L^∞ -homogeneity of $\text{Hess}(\chi d_y)$ also for V^k . Finally, since V^k approximates V in L^2 -sense, and since $\text{Hess}(\chi d_y)$ is a $L^2 - L^0$ -continuous bilinear form on $L^2(TY)$, we obtain the desired estimate for $V \in \mathcal{N}^\perp$.

Hence, again applying the chain rule together with (29) and (30) yields

$$\operatorname{Hess\,md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y)(V,V) + \hat{\kappa}\operatorname{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(d_y)|V|^2 \leq |V|^2 \text{ m-a.e. on } B_{\delta/2}(z) \ \forall V \in L^2(TY).$$

6. We consider another time the second variation formula (Theorem 2.47). It yields that the function $\mathcal{F}(\mu) = \int \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y) d\mu$ for $\mu \in \mathcal{P}^2(Y, m)$ satisfies

$$\int_0^1 \mathcal{F}(\mu_t)\varphi''(t)dt + \hat{\kappa} \int_0^1 \int \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y) |\nabla \psi_t|^2 d\mu_t \varphi(t)dt \le \int_0^1 \int |\nabla \psi_t|^2 d\mu_t \varphi(t)dt, \quad \varphi \in C^2((0,1))$$

for Wasserstein geodesics $(\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ supported in $B_{\delta/2}(z)$, and $\psi_t \equiv \varphi_t$ as in Theorem 2.47. Note that

$$\int |\nabla \psi_t|^2 d\mu_t = \frac{1}{(s-t)^2} \int |\nabla \psi|^2 d\mu_t = \frac{1}{(s-t)^2} W_2(\mu_t, \mu_s)^2 = W_2(\mu_0, \mu_1)^2 (\mu_t, \mu_s)^2 (\mu_t, \mu_s)^2 = W_2(\mu_0, \mu_1)^2 (\mu_t, \mu_s)^2 (\mu_t, \mu_s)^2$$

where ψ is a Kantorovich potential between μ_t and μ_s for some $s \in [0, 1]$, $s \neq t$. Furthermore, by the metric Brenier theorem $|\nabla \psi_t|^2(\gamma_t) = \frac{1}{(s-t)^2} |\nabla \psi|^2(\gamma_t) = d(\gamma_t, \gamma_s)^2$ for Π -a.e. every geodesic where Π is the optimal dynamical plan associated to the geodesic $(\mu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$. Hence

$$\int \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y) |\nabla \psi_t|^2 d\mu_t = \int \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y)(\gamma_t) d(\gamma_t, \gamma_s)^2 d\Pi(\gamma).$$

Now, we choose points $x_0, x_1 \in B_{\delta/2}(z)$, and $\mu_0^k, \mu_1^k \in \mathcal{P}^2(X, \mathcal{H}^n)$ with $\operatorname{supp} \mu_i^k \subset B_{\delta/2}(z)$ and $\mu_i^k \to \delta_{x_i}$ weakly $k \to \infty$. Then, by compactness of $\overline{B_{\delta/2}(z)}$ the Wasserstein geodesic $(\mu_t^k)_{t \in [0,1]}$ between μ_0^k and μ_1^k converges to the Wasserstein geodesic $(\nu_t)_{t \in [0,1]}$ between δ_{x_0} and δ_{x_1} . By uniqueness of geodesics between points in $B_{\delta/2}(z)$ – because of the CAT-condition – , $\nu_t = \delta_{\gamma(t)}$

where γ is the geodesic between x_0 and x_1 . Moreover, since $\mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y)$ is continuous and bounded, we obtain from the definition of weak convergence

$$\mathcal{F}(\mu_t^k) \to \mathcal{F}(\nu_t) = \int \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y) d\nu_t = \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}} d_y(\gamma(t)), \ \forall t \in (0,1).$$

Similarly, after taking another subsequence the associated dynamical plans Π^k weakly converge as well, and again by uniqueness of geodesics they converge to the measure δ_{γ} that is supported on the single geodesic between x_0 and x_1 . Since $\gamma \mapsto \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y)(\gamma_t) d(\gamma_t, \gamma_s)^2$ is a continuous and bounded function on the space of geodesics, we get by the *CAT*-condition that

$$\frac{1}{(s-t)^2} \int \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(\chi d_y)(\gamma_t) d(\gamma_t, \gamma_s)^2 d\Pi^k(\gamma) \to \mathrm{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(d_y(\gamma_t)) d(\gamma_0, \gamma_1)^2, \ \forall t \in (0, 1).$$

Hence, by the dominated convergence theorem we obtain the differential inequality (31) for $\operatorname{md}_{\hat{\kappa}} d_y \circ \gamma$ along geodesics γ in $B_{\delta/2}(z)$.

Since $z \in B_{\epsilon}(x_0) \setminus \{y\}$ was arbitrary we have that $\operatorname{md}_{\hat{\kappa}}(d_y)$ satisfies $(10)_{(CBB)}$ for any $\gamma \subset B_{\epsilon}(x_0) \setminus \{y\}$.

If γ passes through y then the same property holds for trivial reasons. As this holds for any $y \in B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$ and $B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$ is convex we get that $CBB(\hat{\kappa})$ property $(8)_{(CBB)}$ holds for all triangles with vertices in $B_{\epsilon}(x_0)$.

Since $x_0 \in X_{reg}$ was arbitrary and X_{reg} is convex in X, by Petrunin's globalization theorem [Pet16] (cf. [Li15]) it follows that X satisfies $CBB(\hat{\kappa})$.

Since this holds for arbitrary $\hat{\kappa} < K - (n-2)\kappa$ we conclude that X satisfies $CBB(K - (n-2)\kappa)$. This proves part (1) of Theorem 5.1.

Now part (2) follows by Lemma 2.64.

This concludes the proof of the induction step and hence of Theorem 5.1.

6. CD+CAT TO RCD+CAT

In this section we study metric measure spaces (X, d, m) satisfying

(32) (X, d, m) is $CAT(\kappa)$ and satisfies any of the conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$

or
$$CD^e(K, N)$$
 for $1 \le N < \infty, K, \kappa < \infty$.

Remark 6.1. Proposition 6.9 at the end of this section shows that a space X satisfying (32) is non-branching, and hence it is essentially non-branching. For essentially non-branching spaces conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ and $CD^e(K, N)$ are known to be equivalent [EKS15, Theorem 3.12] and [CM16, Theorem 1.1]. Therefore, for $CAT(\kappa)$ spaces conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ and $CD^e(K, N)$ with $1 \leq N < \infty$ are equivalent. However, we will not use this fact in the proof of Theorem 6.2 below.

The main goal of this section is to prove the following theorem.

Theorem 6.2. Let (X, d, m) satisfy (32). Then X is infinitesimally Hilbertian. In particular, (X, d, m) satisfies RCD(K, N).

Together with Theorem 5.1 this immediately gives Theorem 1.1. Let us mention that the proof of Theorem 6.2 can be simplified under various extra regularity assumptions such as requiring Xto have extendible geodesics or to have metric measure tangent cones equal to geodesic tangent cones. Note that it's easy to see that for a space (X, d, m) satisfying (32) for any p and any tangent cone (T_pX, d_p, m_p) at p there is a canonical distance preserving embedding $T_p^g X \subset T_p X$. However, it is not a priori clear if this embedding is always onto.

Let us give two instructive examples to keep in mind.

Example 6.3. Let X be the union of \mathbb{R} with closed intervals of length 2^k attached at the point 2^k for all integer k. It's easy to see that X is CAT(0). Let p = 0 be the base point. Then any two geodesics starting at p to the right have a common beginning and hence the geodesic tangent space

 $T_p^g X$ is isometric to \mathbb{R} . On the other hand, (X, p) is self similar with respect to multiplication by 2 and hence the tangent cone $T_p X = \lim_{k \to \infty} (2^k X, p)$ is isometric to X. Note that this tangent cone is not a metric cone.

Example 6.4. Let Γ be a binary tree, Let ε_n be a sequence of positive numbers such that $R = \sum_n \varepsilon_n < \infty$. Define the metric on Γ by prescribing the length of any edge from level n to the level n + 1 to be ε_n . Let X be the metric completion of Γ . Then X is CAT(0) of topological dimension 1. Let p be the root of the tree Γ . Then the cut locus of p coincides with the metric sphere of radius R at p. It is a Cantor set and for an appropriately chosen sequence ε_n it can have arbitrary large Hausdorff dimension. Furthermore, for any $q \in S_R(p)$ the geodesic tangent space $T_q^g X$ is still a ray and is different from any tangent cone obtained as a blow up limit.

The key step in the proof of Theorem 6.2 is the following splitting theorem

Proposition 6.5 (Splitting theorem). Let (X, d) be CAT(0) and CD(0, N) or $CD^e(0, N)$ for some finite n. Suppose X contains a line. Then $(X, d) \cong (Y, d_Y) \times (\mathbb{R}, d_{Eucl})$ for some CAT(0)metric space (Y, d_Y) .

Proof. Let $\gamma: (-\infty, \infty) \to X$ be a line in X. Let γ_{\pm} be the rays $\gamma_{+}(t) = \gamma(t)$ and $\gamma_{-}(t) = \gamma(-t)$ for $t \ge 0$. Let $b_{\pm}(x) = \lim_{t\to\infty} d(x, \gamma_{\pm}(t)) - t$ be the corresponding Busemann functions. Note that b_{\pm} are both convex and 1-Lipschitz since they are limits of 1-Lipschitz convex functions.

For any r > 0 let $f_r(x) = m^{1/N}(B_r(x))$.

By the same proof as in Lemma 5.4, for any fixed r the function $f_r(x)$ is concave on X. We recall the argument which is particularly simple in our case because the lower Ricci and the upper curvature bounds are both zero.

It's well-known that geodesics in CAT(0) spaces satisfy the following "fellow travel" property: If two constant speed geodesics σ_1, σ_2 : $[0,1] \to X$ satisfy $d(\sigma_1(0), \sigma_2(0)) \leq r, d(\sigma_1(1), \sigma_2(1)) \leq r$ then $d(\sigma_1(t), \sigma_2(t)) \leq r$ for all $0 \leq t \leq 1$.

This immediately follows from the fact that the function $t \mapsto d(\sigma_1(t), \sigma_2(t))$ is convex in t which is an easy consequence of the CAT(0) condition.

Let x, y be any two points in X and let $\sigma: [0,1] \to X$ be a constant speed geodesic from x to y. Let $A = \overline{B}_r(x), B = \overline{B}_r(y)$. Let $0 \le t \le 1$ and let $C_t = (1-t)A + tB$ be their t-Minkowski sum. By the "fellow travel" property we have that $C_t \subseteq \overline{B}_r(\sigma(t))$. Also, C_t is clearly closed. By the Brunn-Minkowski inequality (Theorem 2.8) we have that $m^{1/N}(C_t) \ge (1-t)m^{1/N}(A) + tm^{1/N}(B)$. Using that $m(C_t) \le m(\overline{B}_r(\sigma(t)))$ this gives $f_r(\sigma(t)) \ge (1-t)f_r(x) + tf_r(y)$ i.e. f_r is concave.

Thus we have that for any r > 0 the map $t \to f_r(\gamma(t))$ is concave and positive on \mathbb{R} . This implies that it's constant. Therefore, $m(\bar{B}_r(\gamma(t)))$ is constant in t. This means that in the proof of concavity of f along $\gamma(t)$ all inequalities must be equalities and hence for any t_1, t_2 it holds that the 1/2-Minkowski sum of $\bar{B}_r(\gamma(t_1))$ and $\bar{B}_r(\gamma(t_2))$ is equal to $\bar{B}_r(\gamma(\frac{t_1+t_2}{2}))$. Since the 1/2-Minkowski sum is closed, the open complement in $\bar{B}_r(\gamma(\frac{t_1+t_2}{2}))$ must be empty.

Let $q \in X$ be any point an let $r = d(q, \gamma(0))$. By above, for any $t \ge 0$ there exist $q_t \in B_r(\gamma(t))$ and $q_{-t} \in B_r(\gamma(-t))$ such that q is the midpoint of $[q_t, q_{-t}]$. Moreover, again using the "fellow travel" property we get that the whole geodesic $[q_t, q_{-t}]$ lies in the r-neighbourhood of γ . By letting $t \to \infty$ and passing to the limit along a subsequence we obtain a line $\gamma_q: (-\infty, \infty) \to X$ such that $\gamma_q(0) = q$ and the whole γ_q lies in the r-neighbourhood of γ . By the triangle inequality this implies that $d(\gamma(t), \gamma_q(t)) \le 3r$ for any $t \in \mathbb{R}$. By the Flat Strip Theorem [BH99, Theorem 2.13] this implies that the convex hull of $\gamma \cup \gamma_q$ is isometric to the flat strip $[0, D] \times \mathbb{R}$ for some $D \le r$ with γ and γ_q corresponding to $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}$ and $\{D\} \times \mathbb{R}$ respectively. We will call two lines in Xparallel if they bound such flat strip.

The above trivially implies that $b = b_+ + b_- \equiv 0$ on γ_q and since q was arbitrary, $b \equiv 0$ on all of X. Since b_{\pm} are both convex this implies that they are both affine and hence $\{b_+ = c\}$ is convex in X for any real c. Further, because of the flat strip property above it holds that $b_+(\gamma_q(t)) = b_+(q) - t$ for any $t \ge 0$. Thus, $\gamma_q(t)$ is an (inverse) gradient curve of b_+ and we have a similar property for b_- . This easily implies that γ_q is unique. That is we claim that for every q there is a unique line through q parallel to γ . Indeed, by possibly changing $\gamma(t)$ to $\gamma(t+c)$ we can assume that $b_+(q) = b_-(q) = 0$. By the above $b_+(\gamma_q(t)) = -t$ for any $t \ge 0$. Since b_+ is 1-Lipschitz this means that $\gamma_q(t)$ is the closest point in $\{b_+ \le -t\}$ to q. Since b_+ is a convex function, the set $\{b_+ \le -t\}$ is convex. In CAT(0) spaces nearest point projections to convex subsets are unique (this is immediate from the definition of CAT(0)). Hence $\gamma_q(t)$ is uniquely determined by q and $t \ge 0$. The same works for $t \le 0$ using b_- .

Everything we've shown for the line γ applies to the line γ_q as well. In particular any point q' in X is contained in a flat strip containing γ_q with edges γ_q and $\gamma_{q'}$. This easily implies the metric splitting $X \cong Y \times \mathbb{R}$ with $Y = \{b_+ = 0\}$. Y will obviously be CAT(0).

Remark 6.6. Since $m(B_r(\gamma_q(t)))$ is constant in t for any $q \in X, r > 0$ it is easy to see that one gets the splitting of the measure in the above proposition as well, that is $(X, d, m) \cong (Y, d_Y, m_Y) \times$ $(\mathbb{R}, d_{Eucl}, \mathcal{H}_1)$ for some measure m_Y on Y. We omit the details since we don't need it for the proof of Theorem 6.2 and the measure splitting will follow by Gigli's splitting theorem [Gig13] anyway once Theorem 6.2 is proved.

Proposition 6.7. Let (X, d, m) satisfy any of the conditions CD(K, N), $CD^*(K, N)$ or $CD^e(K, N)$ with $N < \infty$. Then X is infinitesimally Hilbertian if and only if for almost all points $p \in X$ some tangent cone T_pX is isometric to \mathbb{R}^k for some $k \leq N$.

Proof. The "only if" direction is well-known and follows from [GMR15] and Remark 2.16.

We observe that the "if" direction easily follows from Cheeger's generalization of Rademacher's theorem to doubling metric-measure spaces satisfying the Poincaré inequality [Che99].

Indeed, suppose (X, d, m) satisfies the assumption of the theorem and for almost every $p \in X$ some tangent cone T_pX is Euclidean as a metric space.

Let f be a Lipschitz function on X. Recall that by Theorem 2.11, if X satisfies any of the conditions $CD(K, N), CD(K, N)^e$ or $CD^*(K, N)$, it admits a weak type 1-1 Poincaré inequality and hence by [Che99, Theorem 5.1] it holds that Lip $f = |\nabla f|$ a.e. on X.

Further, by [Che99, Theorem 10.2] there is a set of full measure B_f such that for every $p \in B_f$ and every tangent cone T_pX the differential $df_p: T_pX \to \mathbb{R}$ (which always exists after possibly passing to a rescaling subsequence) is generalized linear (see [Che99] for the definition). By above we can also assume that Lip $f(p) = |\nabla f(p)|$ for any $p \in B_f$.

By [Che99, Theorem 8.1] if for $p \in B_f$ it holds that $T_pX \cong \mathbb{R}^k$ as a metric space then (irrespective of the limit measure on T_pX) $df_p: \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}$ is linear in the ordinary sense and $\operatorname{Lip} df_p = \operatorname{Lip} f(p)$. Given two Lipschitz functions f, g on X, by passing to a subsequence we see that the same works simultaneously for both df_p, dg_p for any $p \in B_f \cap B_g$ which is still a set of full measure in X. Using [Che99, Theorem 5.1] again we can further assume that $\operatorname{Lip}(f \pm g) = |\nabla(f \pm g)|$ everywhere on $B_f \cap B_g$.

Since Lip satisfies the parallelogram rule on the set of linear functions on \mathbb{R}^k and $d(f \pm g)_p = df_p \pm dg_p$ this gives

$$|\nabla (f+g)(p)|^{2} + |\nabla (f-g)(p)|^{2} = 2|\nabla f(p)|^{2} + 2|\nabla g(p)|^{2}$$

for any $p \in B_f \cap B_g$. Therefore the parallelogram rule holds for the Cheeger energies of f and g:

(33)
$$\int_X |\nabla(f+g)|^2 + |\nabla(f-g)|^2 dm = \int_X 2|\nabla f|^2 + 2|\nabla g|^2 dm$$

Since Lipschitz functions are is dense in $W^{1,2}(X)$ this implies that (33) holds for all $f, g \in W^{1,2}(X)$. This means that X is infinitesimally Hilbertian and hence RCD(K, N) by Remark 2.16. This finishes the proof of Proposition 6.7.

The above Proposition shows that for CD(K, N)-spaces ($CD^*(K, N)$ -space, $CD^e(K, N)$ -spaces, respectively) with finite N "analytic" infinitesimal Hilbertianness in the sense of the original definition is equivalent to the "geometric" infinitesimal Hilbertianness (i.e. requiring that tangent spaces almost everywhere be Euclidean).

We are now ready to finish the proof of Theorem 6.2.

Proof of Theorem 6.2. First note that by stability of each condition CD, CD^* , CD^e and CAT under measured Gromov-Hausdorff and Gromov-Hausdorff convergence respectively, it follows that tangent cones satisfy CD(0, N), $CD^*(0, N)$, $CD^e(0, N)$ and CAT(0) respectively.

Since *m* is locally doubling, By [GMR15, Theorem 3.2] there is a set $A \subset X$ of full measure such that for *every* point $p \in A$ for any tangent cone (T_pX, d_p, m_p) and any point $y \in T_pX$ any tangent cone $(T_y(T_pX), d_y, m_y)$ is a tangent cone at *p*. Let $p \in A$. Let *k* be the largest integer such that some tangent cone T_pX splits isometrically as $\mathbb{R}^k \times Y$. Clearly $k \leq N$. We claim that $Y = \{pt\}$. If not then take a point $y \in Y$ which is a midpoint on some non-constant geodesic segment. Then $T_{(0,y)}(\mathbb{R}^k \times Y) \cong \mathbb{R}^k \times T_yY$ contains a line *l* contained in $\{0\} \times T_yY$. Moreover, since any line parallel to *l* is equidistant from *l* it easily follows that a line parallel to *l* and passing through a point in $\{0\} \times T_yY$ is entirely contained in $\{0\} \times T_yY$. The splitting theorem then implies that $\{0\} \times T_yY$ is isometric to $\mathbb{R} \times Z$ for some metric space *Z* and hence $T_{(0,y)}(\mathbb{R}^k \times Y) \cong \mathbb{R}^k \times T_yY \cong \mathbb{R}^{k+1} \times Z$ But it's a tangent cone at *p* which contradicts the maximality of *k*. Hence there is a tangent cone at *p* isometric to some \mathbb{R}^k with $k \leq N$. Now the result follows by Proposition 6.7.

Next we give an example of a space satisfying (32) which is not Alexandrov of $curv \ge \hat{\kappa}$ for any $\hat{\kappa}$.

Example 6.8. Let (Y, d, m) be the closed unit ball $\overline{B}_1(0)$ in \mathbb{R}^2 with the standard Euclidean metric and $m = \mathcal{H}_2$. We are going to show that there exist two C^1 functions $\varphi, v: Y \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $X = (\overline{B}_1(0), e^{\varphi}d, e^vm)$ is RCD(-100, 3) and CAT(0). The functions φ, v will be C^4 on $B_1(0)$ with the infimum of sectional curvature of $e^{2\varphi}g_{Eucl}$ on $B_1(0)$ equal to $-\infty$. This will obviously imply that X does not satisfy $curv \geq \hat{\kappa}$ for any $\hat{\kappa}$.

Recall that given a Riemannian manifold (M^n, g) if we change the Riemannian metric conformally $\tilde{g} = e^{2\varphi}g$ then for any smooth function f on M its hessian changes by the formula

(34)
$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Hess}}_{f}(V,V) = \operatorname{Hess}_{f}(V,V) - 2\langle \nabla\varphi, V \rangle \langle \nabla f, V \rangle + |V|^{2} \cdot \langle \nabla\varphi, \nabla f \rangle$$

here and in what follows $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\sim}$ are the inner products with respect to g and \widetilde{g} respectively.

Also, recall that when n = 2 Ricci tensors of g and \tilde{g} are related as follows

(35)
$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}}(V,V) = \operatorname{Ric}(V,V) - \Delta \varphi |V|^2$$

Then for any N > 2 the weighted N-Ricci tensor of $(M^2, \tilde{g}, e^{-f} d \operatorname{vol}_{\tilde{g}})$ is equal to

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}}_{f}^{N}(V,V) = \widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}}(V,V) + \widetilde{\operatorname{Hess}}_{f}(V,V) - \frac{\langle \widetilde{\nabla}f,V \rangle_{\sim}^{2}}{N-2} = \\ = \operatorname{Ric}(V,V) - \Delta\varphi |V|^{2} + \operatorname{Hess}_{f}(V,V) - 2\langle \nabla\varphi,V \rangle \langle \nabla f,V \rangle + |V|^{2} \cdot \langle \nabla\varphi,\nabla f \rangle - \frac{\langle \nabla f,V \rangle^{2}}{N-2}$$

By smoothing out functions of the form $\delta(|(x, y)| - 10)$ on $B_{10}(0) \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ (with $0 < \delta \ll 1$) it's easy to show that for every $\varepsilon > 0, L > 0$ there exist smooth functions $f_{\varepsilon,L}, \varphi_{\varepsilon,L} \colon B_5(0) \to \mathbb{R}$ with the following properties

- (1) $|f_{\varepsilon,L}| \leq \varepsilon, |\varphi_{\varepsilon,L}| \leq \varepsilon;$
- (2) $f_{\varepsilon,L}$ and $\varphi_{\varepsilon,L}$ are convex and ε -Lipschitz;
- (3) $\sup \Delta \varphi_{\varepsilon,L} = L;$

(36)

(4) Hess $f_{\varepsilon,L} \ge \Delta \varphi_{\varepsilon,L}$ everywhere on $B_5(0)$;

(5) $|f_{\varepsilon,L}|_{C^4} \leq \varepsilon, |\varphi_{\varepsilon,L}|_{C^4} \leq \varepsilon$ outside $B_{\varepsilon}(0)$.

Now let $p_n = (0, 1 - \frac{1}{n})$ and let $f_n(x) = f_{10^{-n},n}(x - p_n), \varphi_n(x) = \varphi_{10^{-n},n}(x - p_n).$ Lastly, let $f = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} f_n, \varphi = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \varphi_n$: $\bar{B}_2(0) \to \mathbb{R}$. Then it's easy to see that f and φ satisfy the following properties

(1) $|f| \le 1, |\varphi| \le 1;$

(2) f and φ are convex and 1/10-Lipschitz;

(3) f and φ are C^4 on $B_1(0)$;

- (4) $\sup \Delta \varphi|_{B_1(0)} = +\infty;$
- (5) Hess $f \geq \Delta \varphi$ everywhere on $B_1(0)$.

We claim that the space $(X, e^{\varphi} d_{Eucl}, e^{-f} d \operatorname{vol}_{\widetilde{q}})$ is RCD(-100, 3) and CAT(0) where $\widetilde{g} =$ $e^{2\varphi}g_{Eucl}$ on $B_1(0)$. Indeed, by (35) \tilde{g} has sec ≤ 0 since φ is convex and $g = g_{Eucl}$ is flat. In fact, more is true.

Let $u(x,y) = x^2 + y^2$. Since f and φ are 1/10-Lipschitz, (34) easily implies that $\widetilde{\text{Hess}}_u \geq 0$ on $B_1(0)$, i.e. u is convex with respect to \tilde{g} on $B_1(0)$. Therefore, for any $0 \leq R < 1$ the space $X_R = (B_R(0), e^{\varphi}d)$ is CAT(0) since it's locally CAT(0), complete and simply connected. The same holds for R = 1 because Gromov-Hausdorff limits of CAT(0) spaces are again CAT(0).

Convexity of u with respect to \tilde{g} also implies that X_{R_1} is a convex subset of X_{R_2} for any $0 < R_1 < R_2 \leq 1$. From formula (36) using the properties of f and φ it easily follows that $\widetilde{\operatorname{Ric}}_{f}^{3} \geq -100$ on $B_{1}(0)$. Using that $X_{R_{1}}$ is a convex subset of $X_{R_{2}}$ for $R_{1} \leq R_{2}$ this implies that $(X_{R}, e^{-f}d\operatorname{vol}_{\widetilde{g}})$ is RCD(-100, 3) for any 0 < R < 1. By passing to the limit as $R \to 1$ we get that $X = (\bar{B}_1(0), e^{\varphi}d, e^{-f}d \operatorname{vol}_{\bar{a}})$ is RCD(-100, 3) as well. On the other hand, since $\sup \Delta \varphi|_{B_1(0)} = +\infty$, by (35) the infimum of sectional curvature of $e^{2\varphi}g_{Eucl}$ on $B_1(0)$ is equal to $-\infty$. Therefore X does not satisfy $curv \ge \hat{\kappa}$ for any real $\hat{\kappa}$.

Lastly, we show that spaces satisfying (32) are non-branching. This might be somewhat surprising given that branching $CAT(\kappa)$ spaces are quite common (see e.g. Examples 6.3 and 6.4).

Proposition 6.9. Let X satisfy (32). Then X is non-branching.

Proof. By rescaling we can assume that X is CD(-1, N) and CAT(1). Suppose $\gamma_1, \gamma_2: [0, 1] \to X$ are two branching constant speed geodesics of length $< \pi$. Let $t_0 \in (0, 1)$ be the branching point. By uniqueness of geodesics in CAT(1) spaces this means that $\gamma_1|_{[0,t_0]} = \gamma_2|_{[0,t_0]}$ and $\gamma_1(t) \neq \gamma_2(t)$ for any $t > t_0$. Let $x = \gamma_1(0) = \gamma_2(0), y = \gamma_1(1), z = \gamma_2(1), p = \gamma_1(t_0)$. By shortening the geodesics we can assume that $|xp| = |yp| = |zp| = l < \pi/10$. Then $t_0 = 1/2$. Recall that since X is CAT(1)the homothety map Φ_s^x centered at x is 1-Lipschitz on $B_{\pi/2}(x)$ for any $0 \le t \le 1$. Therefore, for any 0 < r < 1/10, 0 < s < 1 we have that $\Phi_s^x(B_r(\gamma_i(t)) \subset B_r(\gamma_i(st)))$. Note that $\Phi_s^x(B_r(\gamma_i(t)))$ is the s-Minkowski sum $(1-s)\{x\} + sB_r(\gamma_i(t))$. Therefore $\Phi_{\frac{t_0}{t_0+\varepsilon}}^x(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0+\varepsilon))) \subset B_r(\gamma_i(t_0))$ for $\varepsilon, r < 1/10.$

On the other hand, by the Brunn-Minkowski inequality for $0 < r < \varepsilon$ we have that that $m(\Phi_{\frac{t_0}{t_0+\varepsilon}}^x(B_r(\gamma_i(t+\varepsilon))) \ge (1-\delta(\varepsilon))m(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0+\varepsilon))) \text{ where } \delta(\varepsilon) = \delta(\varepsilon,l,N) \to 0 \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$ (Note that conditions $CD(K, N), CD^*(K, N)$ and $CD^e(K, N)$ give slightly different Brunn-Minkowski inequalities when $K \neq 0$ but all of them trivially imply the existence of $\delta(\varepsilon)$ as above). Therefore,

$$m(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0))) \ge m(\Phi_{\frac{t_0}{t_0+\varepsilon}}^x(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0+\varepsilon))) \ge (1-\delta(\varepsilon))m(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0+\varepsilon)))$$

Applying the same argument to Φ_y^y, Φ_s^z gives that $m(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0+\varepsilon))) \geq (1-\delta(\varepsilon))m(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0)))$. Combining the above we get

(37)
$$\frac{1}{1 - \delta(\varepsilon)} \ge \frac{m(B_r(p))}{m(B_r(\gamma_i(t_0 + \varepsilon)))} \ge 1 - \delta(\varepsilon) \text{ for } 0 < r < \varepsilon$$

Fix an $0 < \varepsilon < 1/10$ small enough so that $\delta(\varepsilon) < 1/100$. Since $\gamma_1(t_0 + \varepsilon) \neq \gamma_2(t_0 + \varepsilon)$, for all small $r < \varepsilon$ we have that $B_r(\gamma_1(t_0 + \varepsilon)) \cap B_r(\gamma_1(t_0 + \varepsilon)) = \emptyset$. Then using (37) and the Brunn-Minkowski inequality for $A = \{x\}$ and $B = B_r(\gamma_1(t_0 + \varepsilon)) \cup B_r(\gamma_2(t_0 + \varepsilon))$ we get that

$$m(\Phi_{\frac{t_0}{t_0+\varepsilon}}^x(B)) \ge (1-\delta(\varepsilon))m(B) \ge (1-\delta(\varepsilon))2(1-\delta(\varepsilon))m(B_r(p)) \ge \frac{3}{2}m(B_r(p))$$

On the other hand $\Phi^x_{\frac{t_0}{t_0+\varepsilon}}(B) \subset B_r(p)$ and hence

$$m(\Phi^x_{\frac{t_0}{t_0+\varepsilon}}(B)) \le m(B_r(p))$$

This is a contradiction and hence the proposition is proved and X is non-branching.

Remark 6.10. The above proof only uses the Brunn-Minkowski inequality when one of the sets is a point. Therefore, the proposition remains true if the condition that X be CD(K, N) is replaced by the weaker condition that it satisfies the measure-contracting property MCP(K, N).

References

- [AGS13] Luigi Ambrosio, Nicola Gigli, and Giuseppe Savaré, Density of Lipschitz functions and equivalence of weak gradients in metric measure spaces, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 29 (2013), no. 3, 969–996. MR 3090143
 [AGS14a] ______, Calculus and heat flow in metric measure spaces and applications to spaces with Ricci bounds
- from below, Invent. Math. 195 (2014), no. 2, 289–391. MR 3152751
- [AGS14b] _____, Metric measure spaces with Riemannian Ricci curvature bounded from below, Duke Math. J. 163 (2014), no. 7, 1405–1490. MR 3205729
- [AGS15] Luigi Ambrosio, Nicola Gigli, and Giuseppe Savaré, Bakry-Émery curvature-dimension condition and Riemannian Ricci curvature bounds, Ann. Probab. 43 (2015), no. 1, 339–404. MR 3298475
- [AMS15] L. Ambrosio, A. Mondino, and G. Savaré, Nonlinear diffusion equations and curvature conditions in metric measure spaces, ArXiv e-prints (2015).
- [AMS16] Luigi Ambrosio, Andrea Mondino, and Giuseppe Savaré, On the Bakry-Émery condition, the gradient estimates and the local-to-global property of RCD*(K, N) metric measure spaces, J. Geom. Anal. 26 (2016), no. 1, 24–56. MR 3441502
- [BBI01] Dmitri Burago, Yuri Burago, and Sergei Ivanov, A course in metric geometry, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, vol. 33, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001. MR 1835418 (2002e:53053)
 [BGP92] Yuri Burago, Mikhael Gromov, and Grigori Perelman, A. D. Aleksandrov spaces with curvatures bounded
- *below*, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk **47** (1992), no. 2(284), 3–51, 222. MR 1185284 (93m:53035)
- [BH99] Martin R. Bridson and André Haefliger, Metric spaces of non-positive curvature, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 319, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1999. MR MR1744486 (2000k:53038)
- [BN93] Valerii N. Berestovskij and Igor G. Nikolaev, Multidimensional generalized Riemannian spaces, Geometry, IV, Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., vol. 70, Springer, Berlin, 1993, pp. 165–243, 245–250. MR 1263965
- [BS10] Kathrin Bacher and Karl-Theodor Sturm, Localization and tensorization properties of the curvaturedimension condition for metric measure spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 259 (2010), no. 1, 28–56. MR 2610378 (2011i:53050)
- [CC97] Jeff Cheeger and Tobias H. Colding, On the structure of spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. I, J. Differential Geom. 46 (1997), no. 3, 406–480. MR 1484888 (98k:53044)
- [CG72] Jeff Cheeger and Detlef Gromoll, The splitting theorem for manifolds of nonnegative Ricci curvature, J. Differential Geometry 6 (1971/72), 119–128. MR 0303460 (46 #2597)
- [Che99] Jeff Cheeger, Differentiability of Lipschitz functions on metric measure spaces, Geom. Funct. Anal. 9 (1999), no. 3, 428–517. MR 1708448 (2000g:53043)
- [CM15] Fabio Cavalletti and Andrea Mondino, Sharp geometric and functional inequalities in metric measure spaces with lower Ricci curvature bounds, arXiv:1505.02061, 2015.
- [CM16] Fabio Cavalletti and Emanuel Milman, The Globalization Theorem for the Curvature Dimension Condition, arXiv:1612.07623, 2016.
- [CS12] Fabio Cavalletti and Karl-Theodor Sturm, Local curvature-dimension condition implies measurecontraction property, J. Funct. Anal. 262 (2012), no. 12, 5110–5127. MR 2916062
- [DPG16] Guido De Philippis and Nicola Gigli, From volume cone to metric cone in the nonsmooth setting, Geom. Funct. Anal. 26 (2016), no. 6, 1526–1587. MR 3579705
- [DPG17] _____, Non-collapsed spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below, arXiv:1708.02060, 2017.
- [EKS15] Matthias Erbar, Kazumasa Kuwada, and Karl-Theodor Sturm, On the equivalence of the entropic curvature-dimension condition and Bochner's inequality on metric measure spaces, Invent. Math. 201 (2015), no. 3, 993–1071. MR 3385639

VITALI KAPOVITCH AND CHRISTIAN KETTERER

- [Gig13] Nicola Gigli, The splitting theorem in non-smooth context, https://arxiv.org/abs/1302.5555, 2013.
- [Gig14] _____, Nonsmooth differential geometry An approach tailored for spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below, arXiviv:1407.0809, 2014.
- [Gig15] _____, On the differential structure of metric measure spaces and applications, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 236 (2015), no. 1113, vi+91. MR 3381131
- [GKKO17] Nicola Gigli, Christian Ketterer, Kazumasa Kuwada, and Shin-ichi Ohta, Rigidity for the spectral gap on $RCD(K, \infty)$ -spaces, arXiv:1709.04017, 2017.
- [GMR15] Nicola Gigli, Andrea Mondino, and Tapio Rajala, Euclidean spaces as weak tangents of infinitesimally Hilbertian metric measure spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below, J. Reine Angew. Math. 705 (2015), 233-244. MR 3377394
- [GMS15] Nicola Gigli, Andrea Mondino, and Giuseppe Savaré, Convergence of pointed non-compact metric measure spaces and stability of Ricci curvature bounds and heat flows, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 111 (2015), no. 5, 1071–1129. MR 3477230
- [GP16] Nicola. Gigli and Enrico Pasqualetto, Equivalence of two different notions of tangent bundle on rectifiable metric measure spaces, arXiv:1611.09645, 2016.
- [GRS16] Nicola Gigli, Tapio Rajala, and Karl-Theodor Sturm, Optimal maps and exponentiation on finitedimensional spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below, J. Geom. Anal. 26 (2016), no. 4, 2914–2929. MR 3544946
- [GT17] Nicola Gigli and Luca Tamanini Tamanini, Second order differentiation formula on compact $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, arXiv:1701.03932, 2017.
- [Han14] Bang-Xian Han, Ricci tensor on $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, ArXiv:1412.0441, December 2014.
- [Han17] _____, Characterizations of monotonicity of vector fields on metric measure space, ArXiv:1710.07953, 2017.
- [Ket15] Christian Ketterer, Obata's rigidity theorem for metric measure spaces, Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces 3 (2015), 278–295. MR 3403434
- [Kit17] Yu Kitabeppu, A Bishop-type inequality on metric measure spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 145 (2017), no. 7, 3137–3151. MR 3637960
- [KL16] Yu Kitabeppu and Sajjad Lakzian, Characterization of low dimensional $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces 4 (2016), 187–215. MR 3550295
- [KM16] Martin Kell and Andrea Mondino, On the volume measure of non-smooth spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below, ArXiv:1607.02036, 2016.
- [Li15] Nan Li, Globalization with probabilistic convexity, J. Topol. Anal. 7 (2015), no. 4, 719–735. MR 3400128
 [LV09] John Lott and Cédric Villani, Ricci curvature for metric-measure spaces via optimal transport, Ann. of
- Math. (2) **169** (2009), no. 3, 903–991. MR 2480619 (2010i:53068)
- [MN14] Andrea Mondino and Aaron Naber, Structure Theory of Metric-Measure Spaces with Lower Ricci Curvature Bounds, arXiv:1405.2222, 2014.
- [Pet16] Anton Petrunin, A globalization for non-complete but geodesic spaces, Math. Ann. 366 (2016), no. 1-2, 387–393. MR 3552243
- [Raj12a] Tapio Rajala, Interpolated measures with bounded density in metric spaces satisfying the curvaturedimension conditions of Sturm, J. Funct. Anal. 263 (2012), no. 4, 896–924. MR 2927398
- [Raj12b] _____, Local Poincaré inequalities from stable curvature conditions on metric spaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 44 (2012), no. 3-4, 477–494. MR 2915330
- [RS14] Tapio Rajala and Karl-Theodor Sturm, Non-branching geodesics and optimal maps in strong $CD(K, \infty)$ -spaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations **50** (2014), no. 3-4, 831–846. MR 3216835
- [Sav14] Giuseppe Savaré, Self-improvement of the Bakry-Émery condition and Wasserstein contraction of the heat flow in RCD(K,∞) metric measure spaces, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. 34 (2014), no. 4, 1641–1661. MR 3121635
- [Stu06a] Karl-Theodor Sturm, On the geometry of metric measure spaces. I, Acta Math. 196 (2006), no. 1, 65–131. MR 2237206 (2007k:53051a)
- [Stu06b] _____, On the geometry of metric measure spaces. II, Acta Math. 196 (2006), no. 1, 133–177. MR 2237207 (2007k:53051b)
- [Stu14] Karl-Theodor Sturm, Gradient flows for semi-convex functions on metric measure spaces Existence, uniqueness and Lipschitz continuouity, arXiv:1410.3966, 2014.
- [Wea99] Nik Weaver, Lipschitz algebras, World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1999. MR 1832645